

House Calendar

Thursday, February 17, 2022

45th DAY OF THE ADJOURNED SESSION

House Convenes at 3:00 PM

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page No.

ACTION CALENDAR

Third Reading

H. 556 Exempting property owned by Vermont-recognized Native American tribes from property tax..... 607

Favorable with Amendment

H. 411 The retrieval and disposal of wild animals
Rep. Sheldon for Natural Resources, Fish, and Wildlife607

NOTICE CALENDAR

Committee Bill for Second Reading

H. 708 The approval of an amendment to the charter of the City of Burlington
Rep. Hooper for Government Operations.....609

H. 709 Miscellaneous agricultural subjects..... 609
Rep. Bock for Agriculture and Forestry

Favorable with Amendment

H. 456 Establishing strategic goals and reporting requirements for the Vermont State Colleges
Rep. James for Education 609

H. 491 The creation of the City of Essex Junction and the adoption of the City charter
Rep. Anthony for Government Operations612
Rep. Mattos for Ways and Means632

H. 515 Banking, insurance, and securities
Rep. Jerome for Commerce and Economic Development 632
Rep. Elder for Ways and Means.....687

Action Postponed Until April 20, 2022

Governor's Veto

H. 157 Registration of construction contractors..... 687

Consent Calendar

H.C.R. 104 Commemorating the centennial anniversary of the Harris Hill Ski Jump in Brattleboro..... 688

H.C.R. 105 In memory of former Representative Deborah G. Evans of Essex 688

S.C.R. 15 Senate concurrent resolution recognizing February 2022 as Black History Month in Vermont..... 688

S.C.R. 16 Senate concurrent resolution commemorating the centennial of Robert Frost's poem "Stopping by Woods on a Snowy Evening"..... 688

ORDERS OF THE DAY

ACTION CALENDAR

Third Reading

H. 556

An act relating to exempting property owned by Vermont-recognized Native American tribes from property tax

Favorable with Amendment

H. 411

An act relating to the retrieval and disposal of wild animals

Rep. Sheldon of Middlebury, for the Committee on Natural Resources, Fish, and Wildlife, recommends the bill be amended by striking all after the enacting clause and inserting in lieu thereof the following:

Sec. 1. 10 V.S.A. chapter 113, subchapter 7 is added to read:

Subchapter 7. Retrieval and Use of Covered Wild Animals

§ 4921. DEFINITION

As used in this subchapter:

(1) “Covered wild animal” means an animal that is a big game animal, game quadruped, game bird, fur-bearing animal, or crow.

(2) “Process” or “processed” means the act of slaughtering or butchering a covered wild animal for its edible meat or usable parts.

(3) “Unfit for consumption or use” means a part of the covered wild animal or the covered wild animal itself is decayed, rotting, diseased, or infected.

§ 4922. RETRIEVAL OF COVERED WILD ANIMALS

A person shall not intentionally, knowingly, or recklessly kill a covered wild animal and intentionally or knowingly fail to make a reasonable effort to retrieve the covered wild animal and use the covered wild animal as provided under this subchapter.

§ 4923. USE OF COVERED WILD ANIMAL

(a) A person who retrieves a lawfully taken covered wild animal, or a person to whom the lawfully taken covered wild animal is transferred, shall retain the animal in the person’s possession until it is processed as food;

processed for its fur, hide, or feathers; or used for taxidermy. The inedible or unusable parts or portions of a covered wild animal produced from processing of the covered wild animal shall be disposed of pursuant to the requirements of this subchapter.

(b) The requirements of subsection (a) of this section shall not apply:

(1) when a covered wild animal is unfit for consumption or use; or

(2) to coyote taken by a lawful means other than trapping provided that the coyote is retrieved and disposed of pursuant to the requirements of this subchapter.

§ 4924. EXCEPTIONS

The requirements of sections 4922 and 4923 of this title shall not apply:

(1) when the failure to retrieve, the failure to salvage, or the failure to retain the covered wild animal is beyond the control of the person due to:

(A) theft of the covered wild animal by another person;

(B) unavoidable loss in the field to a wild animal;

(C) lack of legal access to property where a wounded or dead covered wild animal is located, including when signage on the property would lead a reasonable person to believe that hunting is prohibited on the land; or

(D) other circumstances that prevent salvage, retrieval, or retention;

(2) in order to defend a person or property, including defense of property authorized under this part or rules adopted under this part;

(3) when the covered wild animal is sick or diseased;

(4) to a State, federal, or municipal law enforcement officer or employee when the law enforcement officer or employee is acting within the course of the officer's or employee's employment; or

(5) when following generally accepted hunting or trapping practices for retrieval of a covered wild animal when a practice is:

(A) set forth under this part or rules adopted under this part; or

(B) approved as a best practice by the Commissioner of Fish and Wildlife.

§ 4925. DISPOSAL

A person shall not place, leave, dump, or abandon the carcass or parts of a covered wild animal:

- (1) along or upon a public right-of-way or highway;
- (2) upon a private property posted in accordance with section 4710 or 5201 of this title without permission of the owner or the owner's agent; or
- (3) where prohibited by State or municipal law.

Sec. 2. EFFECTIVE DATE

This act shall take effect on passage.

and that after passage the title of the bill be amended to read: "An act relating to the retrieval and use of covered wild animals"

(Committee Vote: 9-1-1)

NOTICE CALENDAR

Committee Bill for Second Reading

H. 708

An act relating to the approval of an amendment to the charter of the City of Burlington.

(Rep. Hooper of Burlington will speak for the Committee on Government Operations.)

H. 709

An act relating to miscellaneous agricultural subjects.

(Rep. Bock of Chester will speak for the Committee on Agriculture and Forestry.)

Favorable with Amendment

H. 456

An act relating to establishing strategic goals and reporting requirements for the Vermont State Colleges

Rep. James of Manchester, for the Committee on Education, recommends the bill be amended by striking all after the enacting clause and inserting in lieu thereof the following:

Sec. 1. 16 V.S.A. § 2171a is added to read:

§ 2171a. STRATEGIC GOALS

(a) The Corporation shall establish its priorities, budget and allocate its resources, and develop its capabilities to ensure that students successfully achieve their academic goals in a manner and in an environment that is:

- (1) affordable;
- (2) accessible;
- (3) equitable; and
- (4) relevant to Vermont's needs.

(b) As used in this chapter:

(1) “Accessible” means each student, regardless of where the student’s home campus is located, has increased access to academic opportunities, majors, and courses across the Corporation’s academic system.

(2) “Affordability standard” means the extent to which affordability is being achieved for students and for the Corporation as determined jointly by the Corporation and VSAC.

(3) “Affordable” means a level of financial commitment that results from the application of the affordability standard.

(4) “Equitable” means the extent to which gaps in educational access and success are being reduced for students from economically deprived backgrounds, first-generation students, students of color, and other marginalized groups.

(5) “Relevant to Vermont’s needs” means that students graduate as informed and engaged citizens who are prepared for the world of work and for participating in a democratic society.

(6) “Total cost of attendance” has the meaning provided in 20 U.S.C. § 10871l, as amended.

(7) “Unmet need” means the total cost of attendance minus:

(A) the Student Aid Index, as determined under 20 U.S.C. § 1087mm, as in effect on July 31, 2023; and

(B) all nonloan student financial assistance.

(8) “VSAC” means the Vermont Student Assistance Corporation.

(c) The Corporation’s Board of Trustees shall approve and maintain institutional missions that align to the strategic goals set out in subsection (a) of this section.

Sec. 2. 16 V.S.A. § 2171b is added to read:

§ 2171b. VERMONT STUDENT ASSISTANCE CORPORATION AND
VERMONT STATE COLLEGES; REPORTING

On or before January 15, 2024 and on or before January 15 annually thereafter, VSAC, with the assistance of and in collaboration with the Corporation, shall submit a written report to the House and Senate Committees on Education containing:

(1) the Corporation's progress in attaining affordability for full-time students enrolled with the Corporation for the first time;

(2) the Corporation's progress in attaining affordability for all other students;

(3) the average and median amount of unmet need for full-time students enrolled with the Corporation for the first time and the average and median amount of unmet need for all other students;

(4) the average, median, annual, and cumulative student and parent debt by loan type (federal direct to student, federal direct to parent, state, or private) for students obtaining a two-year or four-year degree; and

(5) for students enrolled with the Corporation, their average:

(A) yearly continuation rate;

(B) academic progress, showing satisfactory and unsatisfactory progress; and

(C) graduation rate.

Sec. 3. REPORT

On or before July 1, 2023, the Vermont Student Assistance Corporation, in collaboration with the Agency of Education, shall submit a written report to the House and Senate Committees on Education on how to implement a requirement that all high school students complete the Free Application for Federal Student Aid as a condition of graduation.

Sec. 4. 16 V.S.A. § 2171(c) is amended to read:

(c) The Corporation may acquire, hold, and dispose of property in fee or in trust, or any other estate, except as provided in subsection (d) of this section; shall have a common seal; and shall be an instrumentality of the State for the purposes set forth in this section. The State of Vermont shall support and maintain the Corporation. The sale, lease, demolition, or disposal of property by the Corporation shall comply with the applicable requirements of 32 V.S.A. § 962.

Sec. 5. REPEAL

16 V.S.A. § 2188 is repealed.

Sec. 6. AFFORDABILITY STANDARD; DETERMINATION

On or before July 1, 2023, the Vermont State Colleges and the Vermont Student Assistance Corporation shall jointly recommend to the Senate and House Committees on Education and the Senate and House Committees on Appropriations the definition of the affordability standard under Sec. 1 of this act.

Sec. 7. EFFECTIVE DATES

Secs. 1 and 2 shall take effect on July 1, 2023, and Secs. 3, 4, 5, and 6 and this section shall take effect on passage.

(Committee Vote: 11-0-0)

H. 491

An act relating to the creation of the City of Essex Junction and the adoption of the City charter

Rep. Anthony of Barre City, for the Committee on Government Operations, recommends the bill be amended by striking all after the enacting clause and inserting in lieu thereof the following:

* * * Creation of City; Approval of Charter * * *

Sec. 1. CHARTER AMENDMENT APPROVAL; CREATION OF CITY

As set forth in this act, the General Assembly creates the City of Essex Junction and approves the adoption of the charter of the City of Essex Junction. The voters of the Village of Essex Junction approved the creation of the City and the adoption of the City charter on November 2, 2021.

* * * Charter of the City of Essex Junction * * *

Sec. 2. 24 App. V.S.A. chapter 4 is added to read:

CHAPTER 4. CITY OF ESSEX JUNCTION

Subchapter 1. Incorporation and Powers of the City

§ 101. CORPORATE EXISTENCE RETAINED

Notwithstanding the provisions of any other municipal charter, the inhabitants of the Village of Essex Junction, within its corporate limits, shall be a municipal corporation by the name of the City of Essex Junction.

§ 102. GENERAL POWERS; LAW

Except as modified by the provisions of this charter, or by any lawful regulation or ordinance of the City of Essex Junction, all provisions of the

statutes of this State applicable to municipal corporations shall apply to the City of Essex Junction.

§ 103. SPECIFIC POWERS

(a) The City of Essex Junction shall have all the powers granted to cities and municipal corporations by the Constitution and laws of this State together with all the implied powers necessary to carry into execution all the powers granted, and it may enact ordinances not inconsistent with the Constitution and laws of the State of Vermont or with this charter.

(b) The City of Essex Junction may acquire real and personal property within or without its corporate limits for any municipal purpose, including storm water collection and disposal; waste water collection and disposal; solid waste collection and disposal; provision of public water supply; provision of public parks and recreation facilities; provision of municipal facilities for office, fire protection, and police protection; provision of public libraries; provision of public parking areas; provision of sidewalks, bicycle paths, and green strips; provision of public roadways; provision of public view zones and open spaces; and such other purposes as are addressed under the general laws of the State of Vermont.

(c) The City of Essex Junction may acquire such property in fee simple or any lesser interest or estate, by purchase, gift, devise, lease, or condemnation and may sell, lease, mortgage, hold, manage, and control such property as its interest may require.

(d) The City of Essex Junction may exercise any of its powers or perform any of its functions and may participate in the financing thereof, jointly or in cooperation, by contract or otherwise, with other Vermont municipalities, the State of Vermont, any one or more subdivisions or agencies of the State or the United States.

(e) The City of Essex Junction may establish and maintain an electric power system and regulate power line installations; provided, however, that the City shall have no authority under this charter that conflicts with that authority granted to the Public Utilities Commission or any other state regulatory agency. The City of Essex Junction may also establish a telecommunications system and an enterprise to deliver internet or broadband services.

(f) In this charter, mention of a particular power shall not be construed to be exclusive or to restrict the scope of the powers that the City of Essex Junction would otherwise have if the particular power were not mentioned.

§ 104. RESERVATION OF POWERS

Nothing in this charter shall be so construed as in any way to limit the powers and functions conferred upon the City of Essex Junction and the City Council by general or special enactments in force or effect or hereafter enacted; and the powers and functions conferred by this charter shall be cumulative and in addition to the provisions of such general or special enactments.

§ 105. FORM OF GOVERNMENT

The municipal government provided by this charter shall be known as council-manager form of government. Pursuant to its provisions and subject only to the limitations imposed by the State Constitution and by this charter, all powers of the City of Essex Junction shall be vested in an elective City Council, which shall enact ordinances, codes, and regulations, adopt budgets, determine policies, and appoint the City Manager, who shall enforce the laws and ordinances and administer the government of the City. All powers of the City shall be exercised in the manner prescribed by this charter or prescribed by ordinance.

Subchapter 2. Governance Structure

§ 201. POWERS AND DUTIES OF GOVERNING BODY

(a) The members of the City of Essex Junction City Council shall constitute the legislative body of the City of Essex Junction for all purposes required by statute and, except as otherwise provided in this charter, shall have all the powers and authority given to and perform all duties required of City legislative bodies or Councils under the laws of the State of Vermont.

(b) Within the limitations of the foregoing, the City of Essex Junction Council shall have the power to:

(1) Appoint and remove a City Manager and supervise, create, change, and abolish offices, commissions, or departments other than the offices, commissions, or departments established by this charter.

(2) Appoint the members of all boards, commissions, committees, or similar bodies unless specifically provided otherwise by this charter.

(3) Provide for an independent audit by a certified public accountant.

(4) Inquire into the conduct of any officer, commission, or department and investigate any and all municipal affairs.

(5) Exercise every other power that is not specifically set forth herein but that is granted to Councils or legislative bodies by the statutes of the State of Vermont.

§ 202. GOVERNING BODY; COMPOSITION AND TERMS OF OFFICE

(a) There shall be a City Council consisting of five members.

(b) All members shall reside within the boundaries of the City of Essex Junction to be elected by the qualified voters.

(c) The term of office of a City Councilor shall be three years, and terms shall be staggered.

§ 203. VACANCY IN OFFICE

In case of a vacancy of a Council seat, the vacancy shall be filled by the City Council until the next annual election pursuant to subsection 204(c) of this charter.

§ 204. ELECTION OF GOVERNING BODY OFFICERS

(a) The terms of the officers shall commence on the first day of the month following the month of election. At the first meeting of the month following the annual City meeting, the Council shall organize and elect a President, Vice President, and Clerk by a majority vote of the entire Council and shall file a certificate of the election for record in the office of the City Clerk.

(b) The President of the Council, or in the President's absence the Vice President, shall preside at all meetings of the Council and shall be recognized as the head of the City government for all ceremonial purposes.

(c) In the event of death, resignation, or incapacity of any Council member, the remaining members of the Council may appoint a person to fill that position until the next annual election. Incapacity shall be determined by a vote of the Council. Incapacity shall include the failure by any member of the board to attend at least 50 percent of the meetings of the board in any calendar year. At the next annual election, the vacancy shall be filled and the person so elected shall serve for the remainder of the term of office. In the event the Council is unable to agree upon an interim replacement until the next annual City election, a special election shall be held forthwith to fill the position.

(d) In the event that a Councilor is no longer a resident of the City prior to the expiration of the Councilor's term, the Councilor's office shall be deemed vacant. The Council may appoint a person to fill the vacant office until a successor can be elected at the next annual election.

§ 205. COMPENSATION

(a) Compensation paid to the Council members shall be set by the voters at the annual meeting, with a minimum of \$1,500.00 a year each. Council members' compensation must be set forth as a separate item in the annual

budget presented to the meeting. Council members may choose to forgo the compensation or a portion of the compensation.

(b) The City Council shall fix the compensation of all appointees and the City Manager. The Council shall review, approve, and ratify any collective bargaining agreements, which may be negotiated or fixed by the Manager or their designee.

§ 206. CONFLICT OF INTEREST; PROHIBITIONS

(a) Holding other office. No Council member shall hold any City employment during the term for which they were elected to the Council. A Council member may be appointed to represent the City on other boards except as pursuant to 17 V.S.A. § 2647. No former Council member shall hold any compensated appointive municipal office or employment, except for poll worker, until one year after the expiration of the term for which they were elected to the legislative body.

(b) Appointments and removals. Neither the legislative body nor any of its members shall in any manner dictate the appointment or removal of any municipal administrative officers or employees whom the manager or any of the manager's subordinates are empowered to appoint. The legislative body may discuss with the Manager the appointment, performance, and removal of such officers and employees in executive session.

(c) Interference with administration. Except for the purpose of inquiries and investigations under subdivision 201(b)(4) of this charter, the legislative body or its members shall deal with the municipal officers and employees who are subject to the direction and supervision of the Manager solely through the Manager, and neither the legislative body nor its members shall give orders to any such officer or employee, either publicly or privately.

§ 207. GOVERNING BODY; MEETINGS

As soon as possible after the election of the President and Vice President, the Council shall fix the time and place of its regular meetings, and such meetings shall be held at least once a month.

§ 208. SPECIAL CITY MEETINGS

Special City meetings shall be called in the manner provided by the laws of the State, and the voting on all questions shall be by the Australian ballot system.

§ 209. COUNCIL MEETINGS; PROCEDURE

(a) The Council shall determine its own rules and order of business.

(b) The presence of three members shall constitute a quorum. Three affirmative votes shall be necessary to take binding Council action.

(c) In accordance with Vermont's Open Meeting Law, the Council shall keep minutes of its proceedings. The journalized minutes shall be a public record.

(d) All meetings of the Council shall be open to the public unless, by an affirmative vote of the majority of the members present, the Council shall vote that any particular session shall be an executive session or deliberative session in accordance with Vermont's Open Meeting Law.

§ 210. APPOINTMENTS

The Council shall have the power to appoint the members of all boards, commissions, committees, or similar bodies unless specifically provided otherwise by this charter. The terms of all appointments shall commence on the day after the day of appointment unless the appointment is to fill a vacancy in an office, in which case the term shall commence at the time of appointment.

§ 211. ADDITIONAL GOVERNING BODY PROVISIONS

(a) No claim for personal services shall be allowed to the officers elected at the annual meeting, except when compensation for such services is provided for under the provisions of this charter or by the general law.

(b) The Council may authorize the sale or lease of any real or personal estate belonging to the City.

Subchapter 3. Other Elected Offices

§ 301. BROWNELL LIBRARY TRUSTEES

There shall be a five-member Board of Library Trustees who shall be elected to five-year terms using the Australian ballot system. Only qualified voters of the City of Essex Junction shall be eligible to hold the office of elected library trustee.

§ 302. MODERATOR

The voters at the City Annual Meeting shall elect a Moderator who shall preside at the next City Annual Meeting. The term of Moderator shall be one year. Only qualified voters of the City of Essex Junction shall be eligible to hold the office of Moderator.

Subchapter 4. City Meetings

§ 401. CITY MEETINGS AND ELECTIONS

(a) The voters shall at each annual meeting vote to set the date of the next annual meeting, at which time the voters shall vote for the election of officers, the voting on the City budget, and any other business included in the warnings for the meetings.

(b) Provisions of the laws of the State of Vermont relating to the qualifications of electors, the manner of voting, the duties of elections officers, and all other particulars respective to preparation for, conducting, and management of elections, so far as they may be applicable, shall govern all municipal elections, and all general and special meetings, except as otherwise provided in this charter.

(c) The election of officers and the voting on all questions shall be by Australian ballot system. The City Clerk and Board of Civil Authority shall conduct elections in accordance with general laws of the State.

Subchapter 5. Ordinances

§ 501. ADOPTION OF ORDINANCES

Ordinances shall be adopted in accordance with State law pursuant to 24 V.S.A. §§1972–1976, with the additional requirements noted in this subchapter.

§ 502. PUBLIC HEARING

(a) The Council shall hold a minimum of one public hearing prior to the adoption of any ordinance.

(b) At the time and place so advertised, or at any time and place to which the hearing may from time to time be adjourned, the ordinance shall be introduced, and thereafter, all persons interested shall be given an opportunity to be heard.

(c) After the hearing, the Council may finally pass the ordinance with or without amendment, except that if the Council makes an amendment, it shall cause the amended ordinance to be published, pursuant to subsections (a) and (b) of this section with a notice of the time and place of a public hearing at which the amended ordinance will be further considered, which publication shall be at least three days prior to the public hearing. The Council may finally pass the amended ordinance or again amend it subject to the same procedures as outlined herein.

§ 503. EFFECTIVE DATE

Every ordinance shall become effective upon passage unless otherwise specified.

§ 504. RESCISSION OF ORDINANCES

All ordinances shall be subject to rescission by a special or annual City meeting, as follows: If, within 44 days after final passage by the Council of any such ordinance, a petition signed by voters of the City not less in number than five percent of the qualified voters of the municipality is filed with the City Clerk requesting its reference to a special or annual City meeting, the Council shall fix the time and place of the meeting, which shall be within 60 days after the filing of the petition, and notice thereof shall be given in the manner provided by law in the calling of a special or annual City meeting. Voting shall be by Australian ballot. An ordinance so referred shall remain in effect upon the conclusion of the meeting unless a majority of those present and voting against the ordinance at the special or annual City meeting exceeds five percent in number of the qualified voters of the municipality.

§ 505. PETITION FOR ENACTMENT OF ORDINANCE; SPECIAL

MEETING

(a) Voters of the City may at any time petition for the enactment of any proposed lawful ordinance by filing the petition, including the text of the ordinance, with the City Clerk. The Council shall call a special City meeting (or include the ordinance as annual meeting business) to be held within 60 days after the date of the filing, unless prior to the meeting the ordinance shall be enacted by the Council. The warning for the meeting shall state the proposed ordinance in full or in concise summary and shall provide for an Australian ballot vote as to its enactment. The ordinance shall take effect on the 10th day after the conclusion of the meeting, provided that voters, constituting a majority of those voting thereon, shall have voted in the affirmative.

(b) The proposed ordinance shall be examined by the City Attorney before being submitted to the special City meeting. The City Attorney is authorized, subject to the approval of the Council, to correct the ordinance so as to avoid repetitions, illegalities, and unconstitutional provisions and to ensure accuracy in its text and references and clarity and precision in its phraseology, but the City Attorney shall not materially change its meaning and effect.

(c) The provisions of this section shall not apply to any appointments of officers, members of commissions, or boards made by the Council or to the

appointment or designation of Council, or to rules governing the procedure of the Council.

Subchapter 6. City Manager

§ 601. MANAGER; APPOINTMENT AND HIRING

The Council shall appoint a City Manager under and in accordance with Vermont Statutes Annotated.

§ 602. POWERS OF MANAGER

(a) The Manager shall be the chief administrative officer of the City of Essex Junction. The Manager shall be responsible to the Council for the administration of all City of Essex Junction affairs placed in the Manager's charge by or under this charter. The Manager shall have the following powers and duties in addition to those powers and duties delegated to municipal managers under the Vermont statutes.

(b) The Manager shall appoint and, when the Manager deems it necessary for the good of the service, suspend or remove all City of Essex Junction employees, including the Treasurer, and other employees provided for by or under this charter for cause, except as otherwise provided by law, this charter, collective bargaining unit contracts, or personnel rules adopted pursuant to this charter. The Manager may authorize any employee who is subject to the Manager's direction and supervision to exercise these powers with respect to subordinates in that employee's department, office, or agency. There shall be no discrimination in employment, in accordance with applicable State and federal laws, including 21 V.S.A. § 495. Appointments, lay-offs, suspensions, promotions, demotions, and removals shall be made primarily on the basis of training, experience, fitness, and performance of duties, in such manner as to ensure that the responsible administrative officer may secure efficient service.

(c) The Manager, or designee, shall direct and supervise the administration of all departments, offices, and agencies of the City of Essex Junction, except as otherwise provided by this charter or by law.

(d) The Manager shall recommend hiring of a City Attorney with Council approval and shall hire special attorneys as needed.

(e) The Manager or a staff member designated by the Manager shall attend all Council meetings and shall have the right to take part in discussion and make recommendations but may not vote. The Council may meet in executive session without the Manager for discussion of the Manager's performance or if the Manager is the subject of an investigation pursuant to subdivision 201(b)(4) of this charter.

(f) The Manager shall see that all laws, provisions of this charter, and acts of the Council, subject to enforcement by the Manager or by officers subject to the Manager's direction and supervision, are faithfully executed.

(g) The Manager shall prepare and submit the annual budget and capital program to the Council.

(h) The Manager shall submit to the Council and make available to the public a complete report on the finances and administrative activities of the City of Essex Junction as of the end of each fiscal year.

(i) The Manager shall make such other reports as the Council may require concerning the operations of the City of Essex Junction's departments, offices, and agencies subject to the Manager's direction and supervision.

(j) The Manager shall keep the Council fully advised as to the financial condition and future needs of the City of Essex Junction and make such recommendations to the Council concerning the affairs of the City of Essex Junction as the Manager deems desirable.

(k) The Manager shall be responsible for the enforcement of all City of Essex Junction ordinances and laws.

(l) The Manager may when advisable or proper delegate to subordinate officers and employees of the City of Essex Junction any duties conferred upon the Manager by this charter, the Vermont statutes, or the Council members.

(m) The Manager shall perform such other duties as are specified in this charter or in State law or as may be required by the Council.

(n) The Manager shall fix the compensation of City employees.

(o) The Manager shall recommend appointment of the City Clerk annually, with Council approval.

§ 603. MANAGER; REMOVAL; HEARING

The Council may remove the Manager from office for cause in accordance with the following procedures:

(1) The Council shall adopt by affirmative vote of a majority of all its members a preliminary resolution that must state the reasons for removal and may suspend the Manager from duty for a period not to exceed 45 days. Within three days after the vote, a copy of the resolution shall be delivered to the Manager.

(2) Within five days after a copy of the resolution is delivered to the Manager, the Manager may file with the Council a written request for a

hearing; the hearing shall be in a public or executive session by choice of the Manager. This hearing shall be held at a special Council meeting not earlier than 15 days nor later than 30 days after the request is filed. The Manager may file with the Council a written reply not later than five days before the hearing.

(3) The Council may adopt a final resolution of removal, which may be made effective immediately, by affirmative vote of a majority of all its members at any time after five days from the date when a copy of the preliminary resolution was delivered to the Manager, if the Manager has not requested a public hearing, or at any time after the public hearing, if the Manager has requested one.

§ 604. VACANCY IN OFFICE OF CITY MANAGER

The Manager, by letter filed with the City Clerk, may appoint a staff member to perform the Manager's duties in the event of the Manager's absence due to disability, incapacitation, or vacation unless the Manager has previously appointed a staff member as assistant manager or deputy manager, who would automatically assume the Manager's responsibilities in the Manager's absence. If the Manager fails to make such designations, the Council may by resolution appoint an officer or employee of the City to perform the duties of the Manager until the Manager is able to return to duty.

Subchapter 7. Boards and Commissions

§ 701. BOARD OF CIVIL AUTHORITY

The Board of Civil Authority shall be defined by 17 VSA § 2103(5).

§ 702. BOARD OF ABATEMENT OF TAXES

The Board of Civil Authority shall constitute a Board of Abatement as provided by law. The Board of Abatement shall meet and discharge its duties as required by the applicable statutory provisions.

§ 703. PLANNING COMMISSION

There shall be a Planning Commission, and its powers, obligations, and operation shall be under and in accordance with Vermont Statutes Annotated, as amended, and members will be appointed by the City Council from among the qualified voters of the City. Members of the Commission shall hold no other City office. The City Council shall have the authority pursuant to 24 V.S.A. §4323(a) to set the terms of the Planning Commission members.

§ 704. DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD

A Development Review Board shall be established, and its powers, obligations, and operation shall be under and in accordance with Vermont Statutes Annotated, as amended, and members will be appointed by the City Council for terms of three years from among the qualified voters of the City.

§ 705. BROWNELL LIBRARY TRUSTEES

The Brownell Library Board of Library Trustees that holds office at the time of enactment of this charter shall serve until their terms are completed. Any existing policies of the Library Trustees at the time of the enactment of this charter shall become the policies of the new Brownell Library Board of Trustees. The five permanent, self-perpetuating Library Trustees shall function in accordance with the terms of the Brownell Trust agreement dated May 25, 1925. The Library Trustees shall have the authority to establish any new policy for the operation of the Library or repeal or replace any existing policy and shall otherwise act in conformance with the Vermont statutes. Notwithstanding the forgoing, the Library is required to follow all financial and personnel policies adopted by the City Council.

Subchapter 8. Administrative Departments

§ 801. PERSONNEL ADMINISTRATION AND BENEFITS

(a) The Manager or the Manager's appointee shall be the personnel director. The Manager shall maintain personnel rules and regulations protecting the interests of the City and of the employees. These rules and regulations must be approved by the Council and shall include the procedure for amending them and for placing them into practice. Each employee shall receive a copy of the rules and regulations when the employee is hired.

(b) The rules and regulations may deal with the following subjects or with other similar matters of personnel administration: job classification, jobs to be filled, tenure, retirement, pensions, leaves of absence, vacations, holidays, hours and days of work, group insurance, salary plans, rules governing hiring, temporary appointments, lay-off, reinstatement, promotion, transfer, demotion, settlement of disputes, dismissal, probationary periods, permanent or continuing status, in-service training, injury, employee records, and further regulations concerning the hearing of appeals.

(c) No person in the service of the City shall either directly or indirectly give, render, pay, or receive any service or other valuable thing for or on account of or in connection with any appointment, proposed appointment, promotion, or proposed promotion.

§ 802. REAL ESTATE ASSESSOR

There shall be either a real estate Assessor who is a certified real estate appraiser or an independent appraisal firm, headed by a certified real estate appraiser, appointed by the Manager that shall carry out the duties of assessor in the same manner and be subject to all of the same liabilities prescribed for listers under the law of the State of Vermont in assessing property within the City of Essex Junction and that shall establish the grand list thereof and shall return such list to the City Clerk within the time required by State statute.

§ 803. APPRAISAL OF PROPERTY

Appraisals shall be reviewed periodically and kept up to date.

§ 804. APPRAISAL OF BUSINESS PROPERTY FOR TAX PURPOSES

Appraisal of business personal property shall be in accordance with the provisions of 32 V.S.A. § 3618, as the same may from time to time be amended, provided that all business personal property acquired by a taxpayer after September 30, 1995, shall be exempt from tax.

§ 805. PURPOSE

The purpose of appointing an Assessor is in lieu of the election of listers. The City shall be governed by, and each taxpayer shall have rights granted by, the applicable State statutes concerning real and personal property taxation, appeal therefrom, and other statutes concerning taxation.

Subchapter 9. Budget Process

§ 901. FISCAL YEAR

The fiscal year of the City shall begin on the first day of July and end on the last day of June of each calendar year. The fiscal year shall constitute the budget and accounting year as used in this charter.

§ 902. ANNUAL MUNICIPAL BUDGET

With support from the finance department, the Manager shall submit to the Council a budget for review before the annual City Meeting or at such previous time as may be directed by the Council. The budget shall contain:

(1) an estimate of the financial condition of the City as of the end of the fiscal year;

(2) an itemized statement of appropriations recommended for current expenses, and for capital improvements, during the next fiscal year, with comparative statements of appropriations and estimated expenditures for the current fiscal year and actual appropriations and expenditures for the immediate preceding fiscal year;

(3) an itemized statement of estimated revenues from all sources, other than taxation, for the next fiscal year and comparative figures of tax and other sources of revenue for the current and immediate preceding fiscal years;

(4) a capital budget for not fewer than the next five fiscal years, showing anticipated capital expenditures, financing, and tax requirements; and

(5) such other information as may be required by the Council.

§ 903. GOVERNING BODY'S ACTION ON BUDGET

The Council shall review and approve the recommended budget with or without change. The budget shall be published not later than two weeks after its preliminary adoption by the Council. The Council shall fix the time and place for holding a public hearing for the budget and shall give public notice of the hearing.

§ 904. BUDGET MEETING; WARNING

(a) The Council shall hold at least one public hearing at least 30 days prior to the annual meeting to present and explain its proposed budget and shall give a public notice of such hearing.

(b) The Manager shall, not less than 30 days prior to the annual meeting, make available the Council's recommended budget and the final warning of the pending annual meeting.

(c) The annual City report shall be made available to the legal voters of the City not later than 10 days prior to the annual meeting.

§ 905. APPROPRIATION AND TRANSFERS

(a) An annual budget shall be adopted at the City Meeting by the vote of a majority of eligible voters by Australian ballot in accordance with section 401 of this charter. If, after the total budget has been appropriated, the Council finds additional appropriations necessary, the appropriations shall be made and reported at the next City Meeting as a specific item. The appropriations shall only be made in special circumstances or situations of an emergency nature. No specific explanation need be given for any normal annual operating expense in any office, department, or agency that may be increased over the budget amount by an amount not more than 10 percent of the office's, department's, or agency's budget.

(b) From the effective date of the budget, the amounts stated therein, as approved by the voters, become appropriated to the several agencies and purposes therein named.

(c) The Manager may at any time transfer an unencumbered appropriation balance or portion thereof between general classifications of expenditures within an office, department, or agency. At the request of the Manager, the Council may, by resolution, transfer any unencumbered appropriation balance or portion thereof within the Council budget from one department, office, or agency to another.

(d) Notwithstanding the above, no unexpended balance in any appropriation not included in the Council budget shall be transferred or used for any other purpose.

§ 906. AMOUNT TO BE RAISED BY TAXATION

Upon passage of the budget by the voters, the amounts stated therein as the amount to be raised by taxes shall constitute a determination of the amount of the levy for the purposes of the City in the corresponding tax year, and the Council shall levy such taxes on the grand list as prepared by the assessor for the corresponding tax year.

Subchapter 10. Taxation

§ 1001. TAXES ON REAL PROPERTY

Taxes on real property shall be paid in equal installments on March 15 and September 15. The Council shall send notice to taxpayers not less than 30 days prior to when taxes are due.

§ 1002. PENALTY

An additional charge of eight percent shall be added to any tax not paid on or before the dates specified in section 1001 of this charter, and interest as authorized by Vermont statutes.

§ 1003. ASSESSMENT AND TAXATION AGREEMENT

Notwithstanding section 906 of this charter or any other provision of this charter and the requirements of the general laws of the State of Vermont, the Council is authorized and empowered to negotiate and execute assessment and taxation agreements between the City and a taxpayer or taxpayers within the City of Essex Junction consistent with applicable requirements of the Vermont Constitution.

Subchapter 11. Capital Improvements

§ 1101. CAPITAL PROGRAMS

(a) Preparation of capital program. The Manager shall prepare and submit to the Council a capital program at least three months prior to the final date for submission of the budget.

(b) Contents. The capital program shall include:

(1) a clear general summary of its contents;

(2) a list of all capital improvements that are proposed to be undertaken during not fewer than the next five fiscal years, with appropriate supporting information as to the necessity for such improvements;

(3) cost estimates, method of financing, and recommended time schedules for each such improvement; and

(4) the estimated annual cost of operating and maintaining the facilities to be constructed or acquired.

(c) Revision. The information required by this section may be revised and extended each year with regard to capital improvements still pending or in process of construction or acquisition.

Subchapter 12. Amendment of Charter and Initiatives

§ 1201. GOVERNING LAW

This charter may be amended in accordance with the procedure provided for by State statutes for amendment of municipal charters.

Subchapter 13. General Provisions

§ 1301. SAVINGS CLAUSE

Repeal or modification of this charter shall not affect the validity of a previously enacted ordinance, resolution, or bylaw.

§ 1302. SEVERABILITY

The provisions of this charter are declared to be severable. If any provisions of this charter are for any reason invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the remaining provisions, which can be given effect without the invalid provision.

§ 1303. SUPERSEDING LANGUAGE

The City of Essex Junction shall be formed notwithstanding the following language (“Notwithstanding the provisions of any other municipal charters, territory within the corporate limits [of the Town of Essex] shall not be annexed to or become a part of any other municipal corporation except by annexation procedures as set forth in the statutes of the State of Vermont.”) contained in chapter 117, section 101 of this title.

* * * Transitional Provisions * * *

Sec. 3. TRANSITIONAL PROVISION; ASSIGNMENT AND

ASSUMPTION OF VILLAGE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(a) All assets and obligations formerly owned or held by the Village not otherwise transferred shall hereby be assigned and assumed by the City of Essex Junction upon the effective date of this act. This shall include all real property, easements, rights, and interests in land, buildings, and other improvements; vehicles, equipment, and other personal property; rents, and charges, together with lien rights and enforcement powers; moneys, rights of action in legal or administrative proceedings; insurance policies; documents and records; debts, claims, bonded indebtedness; without any further act, deed, or instrument being necessary.

(b) All contracts, agreements, trusts, and other binding written documents obligating the Village shall remain in effect on the effective date of this act, and the City of Essex Junction shall assume all the responsibilities formerly belonging to the Village unless previously allocated or otherwise specified.

Sec. 4. TRANSITION PERIOD

(a) The charter will become effective and the City of Essex Junction shall be established on the effective date of this act. The transition period shall begin on July 1, 2022, following approval of the charter by the Legislature, and end on or before July 1, 2023. During the transition period, the City of Essex Junction shall continue to receive and pay for consolidated services with the Town of Essex for assessing, clerk/treasurer, information technology, police, public works, and stormwater. The City Council shall set a tax rate and collect taxes to meet the obligations for the City's share of the Town of Essex municipal operations and all of the City of Essex Junction municipal operations throughout the transition period, per the budgets approved by the voters of the Town of Essex and the Village of Essex Junction (now the City of Essex Junction) the previous March and April. The taxes collected by the City for the Town of Essex shall be paid to the Town of Essex in two equal installments on or before October 15 and April 15. At the end of the transition period, the City of Essex Junction shall be fully organized.

(b) Nothing in this section shall affect or limit other provisions in this subchapter or in other subchapters, which serve a transitional purpose and which by their own provisions continue beyond the transitional period. In such cases, transitional provisions intended to extend beyond the transitional period shall be governed by specific sunset terms.

Sec. 5. TRANSITIONAL PROVISION; ORGANIZATIONAL MEETING

The first annual City Meeting shall occur on the date set forth by the voters at the most recent Village annual meeting, following approval of the charter.

This shall be a meeting of the City of Essex Junction and shall be noticed and warned to all residents of the City of Essex Junction. This meeting shall be for the purpose of presenting and discussing the budget only. Other City business may also be presented and discussed but not voted on. After presentation and discussion of the budget and any other business, the meeting shall adjourn. Voting on the budget and the election of councilors shall be by Australian ballot and shall occur on the date set forth by the voters at the most recent Village annual meeting.

Sec. 6. TRANSITIONAL PROVISION; VILLAGE CENTER AND
NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT AREA DESIGNATIONS

The Village Center District and Neighborhood Development Area, as designated in the Essex Junction Land Development Code, shall continue in the new City for the purpose of continuing the downtown revitalization efforts as outlined in the Village's Comprehensive Plan, and shall retain any and all State designations for the purposes of redevelopment in force at the time of adoption of the charter or until such designations are withdrawn or amended as per routine statutory process.

Sec. 7. TRANSITIONAL PROVISION; GOVERNING BODY

(a) When the charter becomes effective and the City of Essex Junction is established on July 1, 2022, following approval of the charter by the Legislature, all members of the Village Board of Trustees shall become members of the City Council and shall continue to serve in their capacities and shall serve out their elected terms. The president, vice president, and clerk of the Council shall continue to serve in their capacities until the board reorganizes pursuant to chapter 4, subsection 204(a) of this charter.

(b) The Councilors shall warn and hold meetings as appropriate. The Councilors shall address all details and issues relating to the transition from the Village of Essex Junction to the City of Essex Junction.

(c) The Council shall review, consider, and adopt all regulations, ordinances, and plans from the former Village of Essex Junction as its own.

(d) The City Council, with the assistance of the City Manager and staff, shall propose and warn in the manner pursuant to the charter, the first annual budget of the new City of Essex Junction for consideration by the voters at the first annual meeting.

Sec. 8. TRANSITIONAL PROVISION; BUDGET AND
ADMINISTRATION

Following the approval of the charter by the Legislature, the City Manager will propose a budget for the City for the next fiscal year that addresses proper service levels, contractual obligations, capital projects, and debt, and that reflects any changes related to the incorporation of the City of Essex Junction.

Sec. 9. TRANSITIONAL PROVISION; SEPARATION OF CITY AND
TOWN DEPARTMENTS

The City Council shall employ a City Manager. The City Manager shall plan and hire for the separation of all consolidated departments with the Town of Essex by the end of the transition period, unless contracts are signed stating otherwise, in which case the contracts shall dictate the terms for the sharing of services between the City of Essex Junction and Town of Essex.

Sec. 10. TRANSITIONAL PROVISION; PLANNING AND
DEVELOPMENT

(a) On the effective date of this charter, the former Village plan, the former Village's zoning bylaws and Land Development Code, and any Village Ordinances shall remain in effect until amended or revised by the new City Council.

(b) From the effective date of this charter, the Village of Essex Junction Planning Commission and the Village of Essex Junction Zoning Board of Adjustment shall become the Planning Commission and the Development Review Board of the City of Essex Junction, respectively.

Sec. 11. TRANSITIONAL PROVISION; APPOINTED COMMISSION
AND COMMITTEE MEMBERS

All current Trustee appointed commission and committee members shall serve out the remainders of their terms, and new positions shall be filled upon the existing schedules and as they become available.

Sec. 12. TRANSITIONAL PROVISION; UNIFICATION AND ADOPTION
OF ORDINANCES, BYLAWS, AND RULES

On the effective date of this charter, all ordinances and bylaws of the Village of Essex Junction shall become ordinances and bylaws of the new City of Essex Junction. The City Council shall be fully authorized to amend or repeal any ordinance according to the provisions of subchapter 5 of the charter. Whenever a power is granted by any such ordinance or bylaw to an officer or officers of the Village of Essex Junction, such power is conferred upon the appropriate officer or officers of the new City of Essex Junction.

Sec. 13. TRANSITIONAL PROVISION; PERSONNEL

(a) On the effective date of this charter, all employees of the Village of Essex Junction shall become employees of The City of Essex Junction and any and all employment contracts of the Village shall be assumed by the City unless otherwise terminated, reexecuted, or renegotiated. Any and all personnel policies and regulations adopted by the Village shall become policies and regulations of the City of Essex Junction until further repealed, amended, or restated.

(b) The dates of hire with the Village of Essex Junction will be used as the dates of hire for purposes related to benefits with the new City of Essex Junction and all accrued benefits shall carry over.

Sec. 14. TRANSITIONAL PROVISION; FINANCES

(a) Upon the effective date of this charter, the City of Essex Junction shall adopt any and all portions of the Town of Essex Grand List for properties located within the borders of the City. Any and all property tax payments due and delinquencies incurred for the Village of Essex Junction prior to the effective date of this charter shall be payable to the Town of Essex. Upon the effective date of this charter, any City taxes due and delinquencies incurred shall be payable to the City.

(b) All existing contractual agreements, including but not limited to tax stabilization agreements and any agreements related to the conveyance of real property, within the Village of Essex Junction shall hereby be assigned to the City of Essex Junction.

Sec. 15. TRANSITIONAL PROVISION; FUTURE GOVERNANCE

COMMISSION

Within three years after the approval of this charter by the Legislature, the Council shall appoint a special commission to study governance considerations such as, but not limited to, form of government, election of officials at-large or through wards or districts, governing body composition, term of office, term limits, and councilor compensation.

Sec. 16. JUSTICES OF THE PEACE; APPOINTMENT

The Governor may appoint up to 15 justices of the peace to serve in the City of Essex Junction, pursuant to 17 V.S.A. § 2623. The committees for the political parties of the justices of peace of the Town of Essex may submit recommendations for qualified justices of the peace to the Governor for consideration. The appointed justices of the peace shall serve until successors may be elected at the 2022 general election.

* * * Repeal of Village Charter * * *

Sec. 17. REPEAL

24 App. V.S.A. chapter 221 (Village of Essex Junction charter) is repealed.

* * * Effective Date * * *

Sec. 18. EFFECTIVE DATE

This act shall take effect on July 1, 2022.

(Committee Vote: 11-0-0)

Rep. Mattos of Milton, for the Committee on Ways and Means, recommends the bill ought to pass when amended as recommended by the Committee on Government Operations and when further amended as follows:

In Sec. 2, 24 App. V.S.A. chapter 4, in subchapter 10, by striking out section 1003 (assessment and taxation agreement) in its entirety and inserting in lieu thereof a new section 1003 to read as follows:

§ 1003. ASSESSMENT AND TAXATION AGREEMENT

The Council is authorized and empowered to negotiate and execute assessment and taxation agreements between the City and a taxpayer or taxpayers within the City of Essex Junction consistent with applicable requirements of the Vermont Constitution. This section shall not be construed to supersede any provision of State law relating to the education property tax.

(Committee Vote:11-0-0)

H. 515

An act relating to banking, insurance, and securities

Rep. Jerome of Brandon, for the Committee on Commerce and Economic Development, recommends the bill be amended by striking all after the enacting clause and inserting in lieu thereof the following:

* * * Insurance; Securities; Banking * * *

Sec. 1. 8 V.S.A. § 3685(f)(1) is amended to read:

(1) Sales, purchases, exchanges, loans, or extensions of credit, ~~guarantees~~, or investments, provided such transactions are equal to or exceed:

* * *

Sec. 2. 9 V.S.A. § 5302(e) is amended to read:

(e) At the time of the filing of the information prescribed in ~~subsections~~ subsection (a), (b), (c), or (d) of this section, except investment companies

subject to 15 U.S.C. § 80a-1 et seq., the issuer shall pay to the Commissioner a fee of \$600.00. ~~If the notice filing is withdrawn or otherwise terminated, the Commissioner shall retain the fee paid~~ The fee is nonrefundable.

Sec. 3. 9 V.S.A. § 5305(b) is amended to read:

(b) A person filing a registration statement shall pay a filing fee of \$600.00. A person filing a registration statement in connection with the New England Crowdfunding Initiative shall be exempt from the filing fee requirement. Open-end investment companies shall pay a registration fee and an annual renewal fee for each portfolio as long as the registration of those securities remains in effect. ~~If a registration statement is withdrawn before the effective date or a preeffective stop order is issued under section 5306 of this title, the Commissioner shall retain the fee~~ The fee is nonrefundable.

Sec. 4. 8 V.S.A. § 11601(a)(7) is added to read:

(7) Revoke the charter of a Vermont financial institution that ceases to exist or ceases to be eligible for a charter.

Sec. 5. 8 V.S.A. § 14106 is amended to read:

§ 14106. EXPANDED POWERS OF VERMONT FINANCIAL
INSTITUTIONS

In addition to all other powers permitted under these statutes, any Vermont financial institution shall have the powers conferred under federal law administered by the Federal Reserve Board, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, ~~or the Office of Thrift Supervision~~ FDIC, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or other federal banking regulator upon national financial institutions or their subsidiaries.

Sec. 6. 8 V.S.A. § 10405(c)(2) is amended to read:

(2) All assignments, sales, or transfers of a loan agreement or motor vehicle or retail installment contract to which a debt protection agreement relates and the related debt protection agreement, shall be to a financial institution as defined in subdivision 11101(32) of this title, a credit union, or an entity licensed under subdivision 2201(a)(1) or ~~(3)~~(4) of this title to engage in lending or sales financing.

Sec. 7. 8 V.S.A. § 2502(f) is added to read:

(f) A licensee shall register each remote access unit, commonly referred to as a "kiosk," where a consumer may access money transmission services, including buying or selling virtual currency. Each kiosk is subject to the disclosure requirements established in section 10302 of this title. If a kiosk is

owned by a person other than the licensee and the owner charges an additional fee to the consumer for access to the licensee's services, the owner is also subject to the disclosure requirements of chapter 200 of this title.

Sec. 8. 8 V.S.A. § 4724(8) is amended to read:

(8) Rebates.

* * *

(C) Nothing in subdivision (7) or (8)(A) of this section shall be construed as including within the definition of discrimination or rebates any of the following practices:

* * *

(iii) readjustment of the rate of premium for a group insurance policy based on the loss or expense ~~thereunder~~ under the group insurance policy, at the end of the first or any subsequent policy year of insurance ~~thereunder~~ under the group policy, which may be made retroactive only for such policy year;

(iv) the offer or provision by insurers, by or through employees, affiliates, or third-party representatives of value-added products or services at no or reduced cost, even when such products or services are not specified in the insurance policy, provided the product or service meets each of the following criteria:

(I) The product or service relates to the insurance coverage.

(II) The product or service is primarily designed to satisfy one or more of the following:

(aa) provide loss mitigation or loss control;

(bb) reduce claim costs or claim settlement costs;

(cc) provide education about liability risks or risk of loss to persons or property;

(dd) monitor or assess risk, identify sources of risk, or develop strategies for eliminating or reducing risk;

(ee) enhance health;

(ff) enhance financial wellness through items such as education or financial planning services;

(gg) provide post-loss service;

(hh) incent behavioral changes to improve health or reduce the risk of death or disability or an insured or potential insured; or

(ii) assist in the administration of the employee or retiree benefit insurance coverage.

(III) The cost to the insurer offering the product or service to any given customer is determined by the Commissioner to be reasonable in comparison to that customer's premiums or insurance coverage for the policy class.

(IV) The insurer, providing the product or service directly or through a producer, ensures that the customer is provided with contact information to assist the customer with questions regarding the product or service.

(V) The availability of the product or service is based on documented objective criteria and offered in a manner that is not unfairly discriminatory.

(VI) Within 10 days after offering or providing a product or service pursuant to subdivision (8)(C)(iv) of this section, the insurer submits to the Commissioner a description of the offer or provision, accompanied by an explanation of how each criterion in this subdivision (8)(C)(iv) of this section is met.

(D) An insurer, producer, or representative of either may not offer or provide insurance as an inducement to the purchase of another policy or otherwise use the words "free" or "no cost" or words of similar import in an advertisement.

Sec. 9. 8 V.S.A. § 3750(d)(1)(C)(iii) is amended to read:

(iii) Where the resulting interest rate is not less than ~~one~~ 0.15 percent.

* * * Travel Insurance; Producers; Licensure * * *

Sec. 10. 8 V.S.A. chapter 148 is added to read:

CHAPTER 148. TRAVEL INSURANCE

§ 7122. SCOPE AND PURPOSE

(a) The purpose of this chapter is to promote the public welfare by creating a comprehensive legal framework within which travel insurance may be sold in Vermont.

(b) The requirements of this chapter apply to travel insurance that covers any resident of this State, and is sold, solicited, negotiated, or offered in this State, and the policies and certificates of which are delivered or issued for delivery in this State. It shall not apply to cancellation fee waivers or travel assistance services, except as expressly provided herein in this chapter.

(c) All other applicable provisions of this State's insurance laws shall continue to apply to travel insurance except that the specific provisions of this chapter shall supersede any general provisions of law that would otherwise be applicable to travel insurance.

§ 7123. DEFINITIONS

As used in this chapter:

(1) "Aggregator site" means a website that provides access to information regarding insurance products from more than one insurer, including product and insurer information, for use in comparison shopping.

(2) "Blanket travel insurance" means a policy of travel insurance issued to any eligible group providing coverage for specific classes of persons defined in the policy with coverage provided to all members of the eligible group without a separate charge to individual members of the eligible group.

(3) "Cancellation fee waiver" means a contractual agreement between a supplier of travel services and its customer to waive some or all of the nonrefundable cancellation fee provisions of the supplier's underlying travel contract with or without regard to the reason for the cancellation or form of reimbursement. A cancellation fee waiver is not insurance.

(4) "Eligible group" means two or more persons who are engaged in a common enterprise, or have an economic, educational, or social affinity or relationship, including any of the following:

(A) any entity engaged in the business of providing travel or travel services, including a tour operator, lodging provider, vacation property owner, hotel or resort, travel club, travel agency, property manager, cultural exchange program, or common carrier, or the operator, owner, or lessor of a means of transportation of passengers, including to an airline, cruise line, railroad, steamship company, or public bus carrier, wherein with regard to any particular travel or type of travel or travelers, all members or customers of the group have a common exposure to risk attendant to such travel;

(B) any college, school, or other institution of learning, covering students, teachers, employees, or volunteers;

(C) any employer covering any group of employees, volunteers, contractors, board of directors, dependents, or guests;

(D) any sports team, camp, or sponsor thereof, covering participants, members, campers, employees, officials, supervisors, or volunteers;

(E) any religious, charitable, recreational, educational, or civic organization, or branch thereof, covering any group of members, participants, or volunteers;

(F) any financial institution or financial institution vendor, or parent holding company, trustee, or agent of or designated by one or more financial institutions or financial institution vendors, including accountholders, credit card holders, debtors, guarantors, or purchasers;

(G) any incorporated or unincorporated association, including a labor union, having a common interest, constitution, and bylaws and organized and maintained in good faith for purposes other than obtaining insurance for members or participants of such association covering its members;

(H) any trust or the trustees of a fund established, created, or maintained for the benefit of and covering members, employees, or customers, subject to the Commissioner's permitting the use of a trust and the State's premium tax provisions in section 7125 of this chapter, of one or more associations meeting the requirements of subdivision (4)(G) of this section;

(I) any entertainment production company covering any group of participants, volunteers, audience members, contestants, or workers;

(J) any volunteer fire department, ambulance, rescue, police, court, or any first aid, civil defense, or other such volunteer group;

(K) any preschool, daycare institution for children or adults, or senior citizen club;

(L) any automobile or truck rental or leasing company covering a group of individuals who may become renters, lessees, or passengers defined by their travel status on the rented or leased vehicles, provided that the common carrier, the operator, owner, or lessor of a means of transportation or the automobile or truck rental or leasing company is the policyholder under a policy to which this section applies; or

(M) any other group where the Commissioner has determined that the members are engaged in a common enterprise, or have an economic, educational, or social affinity or relationship, and that issuance of the policy would not be contrary to the public interest.

(5) “Fulfillment materials” means documentation sent to the purchaser of a travel protection plan confirming the purchase and providing the travel protection plan’s coverage and assistance details.

(6) “Group travel insurance” means travel insurance issued to any eligible group.

(7) “Limited lines travel insurance producer” means a:

(A) licensed managing general agent or third-party administrator;

(B) licensed insurance producer, including a limited lines producer, designated by an insurer as the travel insurance supervising entity as set forth in subsection 7124(f) of this title; or

(C) travel administrator.

(8) “Offer and disseminate” means to provide general information, including a description of the coverage and price, as well as to process the application and collect premiums.

(9) “Primary certificate holder” means an individual person who elects and purchases travel insurance under a group policy.

(10) “Primary policyholder” means an individual person who elects and purchases individual travel insurance.

(11) “Travel administrator” means a person who directly or indirectly underwrites, collects charges, collateral, or premiums from, or adjusts or settles claims on residents of this State, in connection with travel insurance, except that a person shall not be considered a travel administrator if that person’s only actions that would otherwise cause it to be considered a travel administrator are among the following:

(A) a person working for a travel administrator to the extent that the person’s activities are subject to the supervision and control of the travel administrator;

(B) an insurance producer selling insurance or engaged in administrative and claims-related activities within the scope of the producer’s license;

(C) a travel retailer offering and disseminating travel insurance and registered under the license of a limited lines travel insurance producer in accordance with this chapter;

(D) an individual adjusting or settling claims in the normal course of that individual’s practice or employment as an attorney-at-law and who does not collect charges or premiums in connection with insurance coverage; or

(E) a business entity that is affiliated with a licensed insurer while acting as a travel administrator for the direct and assumed insurance business of an affiliated insurer.

(12) “Travel assistance services” means noninsurance services for which the consumer is not indemnified based on a fortuitous event and where providing the service does not result in transfer or shifting of risk that would constitute the business of insurance. Travel assistance services include the provision of security advisories, destination information, vaccination and immunization information services, travel reservation services, entertainment, activity, or event planning, translation assistance, emergency messaging, international legal and medical referrals, medical case monitoring, coordination of transportation arrangements, emergency cash transfer assistance, medical prescription replacement assistance, passport and travel document replacement assistance, lost luggage assistance, or concierge services. Travel assistance services are not insurance and not related to insurance.

(13)(A) “Travel insurance” means insurance coverage for personal risks incident to planned travel, including:

- (i) interruption or cancellation of a trip or event;
- (ii) loss of baggage or personal effects;
- (iii) damages to accommodations or rental vehicles;
- (iv) sickness, accident, disability, or death occurring during travel;
- (v) emergency evacuation;
- (vi) repatriation of remains; or
- (vii) any other contractual obligations to indemnify or pay a specified amount to the traveler upon determinable contingencies related to travel as approved by the Commissioner.

(B) Travel insurance does not include major medical plans that provide comprehensive medical protection for travelers with trips lasting six months or longer, including, for example, those working overseas as expatriates, or any other product that requires a specific insurance producer license.

(14) “Travel protection plan” means a plan that provides one or more of the following: travel insurance; travel assistance services; or cancellation fee waivers.

(15) “Travel retailer” means a business entity that makes, arranges, or offers travel services and may offer and disseminate travel insurance as a service to its customers on behalf of and under the direction of a limited lines travel insurance producer.

§ 7124. LICENSING AND REGISTRATION

(a) The Commissioner may issue to an individual or a business entity that has complied with the requirements of this chapter and filed an application for such limited lines travel insurance producer license in a form and manner prescribed by the Commissioner, a limited lines travel insurance producer license, which authorizes the limited lines travel insurance producer to sell, solicit, or negotiate travel insurance through a licensed insurer. A person may not act as a limited lines travel insurance producer or travel retailer unless properly licensed or registered, respectively.

(b) A travel retailer may offer and disseminate travel insurance under a limited lines travel insurance producer license only if the following conditions are met:

(1) The limited lines travel insurance producer or travel retailer provides to purchasers of travel insurance:

(A) a description of the material terms or the actual material terms of the insurance coverage at the time of purchase;

(B) a description of the process for filing a claim;

(C) a description of the review and cancellation process for the travel insurance policy; and

(D) the identity and contact information of the insurer and limited lines travel insurance producer.

(2) At the time of licensure, the limited lines travel insurance producer has established and maintains a register on a form prescribed by the Commissioner of each travel retailer that offers travel insurance on the limited lines travel insurance producer’s behalf. The register shall be maintained and updated annually by the limited lines travel insurance producer and shall include the name, address, and contact information of the travel retailer and an officer or person who directs or controls the travel retailer’s operations, and the travel retailer’s Federal Tax Identification Number. The limited lines travel insurance producer shall submit such register within 30 days of request by the Commissioner. The limited lines travel insurance producer shall also certify that the travel retailer registered complies with 18 U.S.C. § 1033. The grounds for the suspension and revocation and the penalties applicable to

resident insurance producers under 8 V.S.A. § 4804 shall be applicable to the limited lines travel insurance producers and travel retailers.

(3) The limited lines travel insurance producer has designated one of its employees who is a licensed individual producer as the person responsible for the limited lines travel insurance producer's compliance with the travel insurance laws, rules, and regulations of the State. This person shall be identified as the Designated Responsible Licensed Producer (DRLP).

(4) The DRLP, president, secretary, treasurer, and any other officer or person who directs or controls the limited lines travel insurance producer's insurance operations has complied with the fingerprinting requirements applicable to insurance producers in the resident state of the limited lines travel insurance producer.

(5) The limited lines travel insurance producer has paid all applicable insurance producer licensing fees as set forth in section 4800 of this title.

(6) The limited lines travel insurance producer requires each employee and authorized representative of the travel retailer whose duties include offering and disseminating travel insurance to receive a program of instruction or training, which may be subject to review by the Commissioner. The training material shall, at a minimum, contain instructions on the types of insurance offered, ethical sales practices, and required disclosures to prospective customers.

(c) Any travel retailer offering or disseminating travel insurance shall make available to prospective purchasers brochures or other written materials that have been approved by the travel insurer. Such materials shall include information that, at a minimum:

(1) provides the identity and contact information of the insurer and the limited lines travel insurance producer;

(2) explains that the purchase of travel insurance is not required in order to purchase any other product or service from the travel retailer; and

(3) explains that an unlicensed travel retailer is permitted to provide general information about the insurance offered by the travel retailer, including a description of the coverage and price, but is not qualified or authorized to answer technical questions about the terms and conditions of the insurance offered by the travel retailer or to evaluate the adequacy of the customer's existing insurance coverage.

(d) A travel retailer's employee or authorized representative who is not licensed as an insurance producer may not:

(1) evaluate or interpret the technical terms, benefits, or conditions of the offered travel insurance coverage;

(2) evaluate or provide advice concerning a prospective purchaser's existing insurance coverage; or

(3) hold themselves out as a licensed insurer, licensed producer, or insurance expert.

(e) A travel retailer whose insurance-related activities, and those of its employees and authorized representatives, are limited to offering and disseminating travel insurance on behalf of and under the direction of a limited lines travel insurance producer meeting the conditions stated in this section is authorized to do so and receive related compensation for such services, upon registration by the limited lines travel insurance producer as described in subdivision (b)(2) of this section.

(f) As the insurer's designee, a limited lines travel insurance producer is responsible for the acts of each of its registered travel retailers related to the offer and dissemination of travel insurance and shall use reasonable means to ensure the travel retailer's compliance with this chapter.

(g) Any person licensed in a major line of authority as an insurance producer is authorized to sell, solicit, and negotiate travel insurance. A property and casualty insurance producer is not required to become appointed by an insurer in order to sell, solicit, or negotiate travel insurance.

(h) The limited lines travel insurance producer and any travel retailer offering and disseminating travel insurance under a limited lines travel insurance producer license shall be subject to the provisions of sections 13 and 4804 and chapter 129 of this title.

§ 7125. PREMIUM TAX

(a) A travel insurer shall pay premium tax, as provided in 32 V.S.A. § 8551, on travel insurance premiums paid by any of the following:

(1) a primary policyholder who is a resident of this State;

(2) a primary certificate holder who is a resident of this State who elects coverage under a group travel insurance policy; or

(3) a blanket travel insurance policyholder that is a resident in or has its principal place of business or the principal place of business of an affiliate or subsidiary that has purchased blanket travel insurance in this State for eligible blanket travel insurance group members, subject to any apportionment rules that apply to the insurer across multiple taxing jurisdictions or that permit the

insurer to allocate premium on an apportioned basis in a reasonable and equitable manner in those jurisdictions.

(b) A travel insurer shall:

(1) document the state of residence or principal place of business of the policyholder or certificate holder, as required in subsection (a) of this section; and

(2) report as premium only the amount allocable to travel insurance and not any amounts received for travel assistance services or cancellation fee waivers.

§ 7126. TRAVEL PROTECTION PLANS

A travel protection plan may be offered for one price for the combined features that the travel protection plan offers in this State if:

(1) the travel protection plan clearly discloses to the consumer, at or prior to the time of purchase, that it includes travel insurance, travel assistance services, or cancellation fee waivers, as applicable, and provides information and an opportunity, at or prior to the time of purchase, for the consumer to obtain additional information regarding the features and pricing of each;

(2) the person offering the travel protection plan that includes a travel insurance policy complies with section 7127 of this title; and

(3) the fulfillment materials:

(A) describe and delineate the travel insurance, travel assistance services, and cancellation fee waivers in the travel protection plan; and

(B) include the travel insurance disclosures and the contact information for persons providing travel assistance services and cancellation fee waivers, as applicable.

§ 7127. SALES PRACTICES

(a) All persons offering travel insurance to residents of this State are subject to chapter 129 of this title, except as otherwise provided in this section. In the event of a conflict between this chapter and other provisions of this title regarding the sale and marketing of travel insurance and travel protection plans, the provisions of this chapter shall control.

(b) Offering or selling a travel insurance policy that could never result in payment of any claims for any insured under the policy is an unfair trade practice under chapter 129 of this title.

(c)(1) All documents provided to consumers prior to the purchase of travel insurance, including sales materials, advertising materials, and marketing materials, shall be consistent with the travel insurance policy itself, including forms, endorsements, policies, rate filings, and certificates of insurance.

(2) For a travel insurance policy or certificate that contains preexisting condition exclusions:

(A) information and an opportunity to learn more about the preexisting condition exclusions shall be provided prior to the time of purchase and in the coverage's fulfillment materials; and

(B) the policy or certificate may only exclude preexisting conditions for which medical advice or treatment was recommended by or received from a health care provider within a six-month period preceding the effective date of coverage.

(3)(A) The fulfillment materials and the information described in subdivisions 7124(b)(1)(B)–(D) of this title shall be provided to a policyholder or certificate holder as soon as practicable following the purchase of a travel protection plan. Unless the insured has either started a covered trip or filed a claim under the travel insurance coverage, a policyholder or certificate holder may cancel a policy or certificate for a full refund of the travel protection plan price from the date of purchase of a travel protection plan until at least:

(i) 15 days following the date of delivery of the travel protection plan's fulfillment materials by U.S. mail; or

(ii) 10 days following the date of delivery of the travel protection plan's fulfillment materials by means other than U.S. mail.

(B) As used in this subdivision, "delivery" means handing fulfillment materials to the policyholder or certificate holder or sending fulfillment materials by U.S. mail or electronic means to the policyholder or certificate holder.

(5) A travel insurer shall disclose in the policy documentation and fulfillment materials whether the travel insurance is primary or secondary to other applicable coverage.

(6) Where travel insurance is marketed directly to a consumer through an insurer's website or by others through an aggregator site, it shall not be an unfair trade practice or other violation of law where an accurate summary or short description of coverage is provided on the web page, provided the consumer has access to the full provisions of the policy through electronic means.

(d) A person offering, soliciting, or negotiating travel insurance or travel protection plans on an individual or group basis may not do so by using negative option or opt out, which would require a consumer to take an affirmative action to deselect coverage, such as by unchecking a box on an electronic form, when the consumer purchases a trip.

(e) Marketing blanket travel insurance coverage as free is an unfair trade practice under chapter 129 of this title.

(f) Where a consumer's destination jurisdiction requires insurance coverage, it shall not be an unfair trade practice to require that a consumer choose between the following options as a condition of purchasing a trip or travel package:

(1) purchasing the coverage required by the destination jurisdiction through the travel retailer or limited lines travel insurance producer supplying the trip or travel package; or

(2) agreeing to obtain and provide proof of coverage that meets the destination jurisdiction's requirements prior to departure.

(g) For any travel insurance policy or certificate that provides coverage for sickness, sickness shall include any mental disorder as defined by the American Psychiatric Association DSM-5, or its current equivalent that is diagnosed or treated by a properly qualified medical professional.

§ 7128. TRAVEL ADMINISTRATORS

(a) A person shall not act or represent themselves as a travel administrator for travel insurance in this State unless that person:

(1) is a licensed property and casualty insurance producer in this State for activities permitted under that producer license;

(2) holds a valid managing general agent license in this State; or

(3) holds a valid third-party administrator license in this State.

(b) A travel administrator and its employees are exempt from the licensing requirements of section 4803 of this title for travel insurance it administers.

(c) An insurer is responsible for the acts of a travel administrator administering travel insurance underwritten by the insurer and is responsible for ensuring that the travel administrator maintains all books and records relevant to the insurer to be made available by the travel administrator to the Commissioner upon request.

§ 7129. POLICY

(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of this title to the contrary, travel insurance shall be classified and filed for purposes of rates and forms under an inland marine line of insurance; provided, however, that travel insurance that provides coverage for sickness, accident, disability, or death occurring during travel, either exclusively or in conjunction with related coverages such as emergency evacuation or repatriation of remains, or incidental limited property and casualty benefits such as baggage or trip cancellation, may be filed under either an accident and health line of insurance or an inland marine line of insurance.

(b) Travel insurance may be provided under an individual, group, or blanket policy.

(c) Eligibility and underwriting standards for travel insurance may be developed and provided based on travel protection plans designed for individual or identified marketing or distribution channels, provided those standards also meet the State's underwriting standards for inland marine.

§ 7130. RULEMAKING AUTHORITY

The Commissioner may adopt rules to implement the provisions of this chapter.

Sec. 11. 8 V.S.A. § 4813i(c) is amended to read:

(c) A person who applies for a limited lines travel insurance producer license for travel accident or travel baggage insurance under chapter 148 of this title shall not be required to be examined by the Commissioner.

Sec. 12. 8 V.S.A. § 3301(a)(11) is added to read:

(11) "Inland marine insurance" means any insurance that is defined by statute, rule, or general custom as inland marine insurance.

* * * Captive Insurance * * *

Sec. 13. 8 V.S.A. § 6007(c)(2) is amended to read:

(2) in order to provide sufficient detail to support the premium tax return, the pure captive insurance company, association captive insurance company, sponsored captive insurance company, or industrial insured captive insurance company shall file prior to March 15 of each year for each calendar year-end, pages 1, 2, 3, and 5 the premium schedule of the "Vermont Captive Insurance Company Annual Report-Short Form" verified by oath of two of its executive officers.

Sec. 14. 8 V.S.A. § 6038 is amended to read:

§ 6038. DELINQUENCY OF SPONSORED CAPTIVE INSURANCE
COMPANIES

(a) Except as otherwise provided in this section, the provisions of chapter 145 of this title shall apply in full to a sponsored captive insurance company and to each of its protected cells.

(b) Upon any order of supervision, rehabilitation, or liquidation of a sponsored captive insurance company or any of its protected cells, the receiver shall manage the assets and liabilities of the sponsored captive insurance company or any of its protected cells pursuant to the provisions of this subchapter.

(c) Notwithstanding the provisions of chapter 145 of this title to the contrary:

(1) In connection with the conservation, rehabilitation, or liquidation of a sponsored captive insurance company or any of its protected cells, the assets and liabilities of a protected cell shall at all times be kept separate from, and shall not be commingled with, those of other protected cells and the sponsored captive insurance company.

(2) The assets of a protected cell may not be used to pay any expenses or claims other than those attributable to such protected cell.

(3) Unless the sponsor consents and the Commissioner has granted prior written approval, the assets of the sponsored captive insurance company's general account shall not be used to pay any expenses or claims attributable solely to a protected cell or protected cells of the sponsored captive insurance company. In the event that the assets of the sponsored captive insurance company's general account are used to pay expenses or claims attributable solely to a protected cell or protected cells of the sponsored captive insurance company, the sponsor is not required to contribute additional capital and surplus to the sponsored captive insurance company's general account, notwithstanding the provisions of section 6004 of this title.

(4) A sponsored captive insurance company's capital and surplus shall at all times be available to pay any expenses of or claims against the sponsored captive insurance company.

(d) Notwithstanding the provisions of chapter 145 of this title or any other provision of law to the contrary, and, in addition to the provisions of this section, in the event of an insolvency of a sponsored captive insurance company or any of its protected cells where the Commissioner determines that one or more protected cells remain solvent, the Commissioner may separate such cells from the sponsored captive insurance company and, on application

of the sponsor, may allow for the conversion of such protected cells into one or more new or existing sponsored captive insurance companies, or one or more other captive insurance companies, pursuant to a plan or plans of operation approved by the Commissioner.

(e) Notwithstanding the provisions of chapter 145 of this title or any other provision of law to the contrary, and in addition to the provisions of this section, in the event of an insolvency of one or more protected cells of a sponsored captive insurance company, the Commissioner may separate such cell or cells from the sponsored captive insurance company and may allow for the conversion of such protected cell or cells into one or more new or existing sponsored captive insurance companies, or one or more other captive insurance companies, pursuant to a plan or plans of operation approved by the Commissioner.

Sec. 15. 8 V.S.A. § 6032(7)(C) is amended to read:

(C) that insures the risks only of its participants or, subject to Commissioner approval, other parties unaffiliated with a participant, through separate participant contracts; and

Sec. 16. 8 V.S.A. § 6034 is amended to read:

§ 6034. PROTECTED CELLS

* * *

~~(7) Each sponsored captive insurance company shall annually file with the Commissioner such financial reports as the Commissioner shall require, which shall include accounting statements detailing the financial experience of each protected cell.~~

~~(8)~~(7) Each sponsored captive insurance company shall notify the Commissioner in writing within 10 business days of any protected cell that is insolvent or otherwise unable to meet its claim or expense obligations.

~~(9)~~(8) No participant contract shall take effect without the Commissioner's prior written approval, and the addition of each new protected cell and withdrawal of any participant or termination of any existing protected cell shall constitute a change in the business plan requiring the Commissioner's prior written approval.

~~(10)~~(9) If required by the Commissioner, in his or her discretion, the business written by a sponsored captive, with respect to each cell, shall be:

(A) Fronted by an insurance company licensed under the laws of any state.

(B) Reinsured by a reinsurer authorized or approved by the State of Vermont.

(C) Secured by a trust fund in the United States for the benefit of policyholders and claimants or funded by an irrevocable letter of credit or other arrangement that is acceptable to the Commissioner. The Commissioner may require the sponsored captive to increase the funding of any security arrangement established under this subdivision. If the form of security is a letter of credit, the letter of credit must be issued or confirmed by a bank approved by the Commissioner. A trust maintained pursuant to this subdivision shall be established in a form and upon such terms approved by the Commissioner.

Sec. 17. 8 V.S.A. § 6034f is added to read:

§ 6034f. ANNUAL REPORT; BOOKS AND RECORDS

(a) For purposes of subsection 6007(b) of this chapter:

(1) Each sponsored captive insurance company shall annually file with the Commissioner such financial reports as the Commissioner requires, which shall include accounting statements detailing the financial experience of each protected cell.

(2) Unless otherwise approved in advance by the Commissioner, a sponsored captive insurance company shall maintain its books, records, documents, accounts, vouchers, and agreements in this State. A sponsored captive insurance company shall make its books, records, documents, accounts, vouchers, and agreements available for inspection by the Commissioner at any time. A sponsored captive insurance company shall keep its books and records in such manner that its financial condition, affairs, and operations can be readily ascertained and so that the Commissioner may readily verify its financial statements and determine its compliance with this chapter.

(3) Unless otherwise approved in advance by the Commissioner, all original books, records, documents, accounts, vouchers, and agreements shall be preserved and kept available in this State for the purpose of examination and inspection and until such time as the Commissioner approves the destruction or other disposition of such books, records, documents, accounts, vouchers, and agreements. If the Commissioner approves the keeping of the items listed in this subdivision outside this State, the sponsored captive insurance company shall maintain in this State a complete and true copy of each such original. Books, records, documents, accounts, vouchers, and

agreements may be photographed, reproduced on film, or stored and reproduced electronically.

Sec. 18. 8 V.S.A. § 6002(a) is amended to read:

(a) Any captive insurance company, when permitted by its articles of association, charter, or other organizational document, may apply to the Commissioner for a license to do any and all insurance comprised in subdivisions 3301(a)(1), (2), (3)(A)–(C), (E)–(Q), and (4)–(9) of this title and may grant annuity contracts as defined in section 3717 of this title, and may accept or transfer risk by means of a parametric contract; provided, however, that:

* * *

(10) Any captive insurance company that transfers risk by means of a parametric contract shall comply with all applicable State and federal laws and regulations. As used in this subdivision, “parametric contract” means a contract to make a payment upon the occurrence of one or more specified triggering events without proof of loss or obligation to indemnify. A parametric contract is not an insurance contract.

Sec. 19. 8 V.S.A. § 6006a(b) is amended to read:

(b) When such merger ~~or consolidation~~ has been effected as provided in this section:

* * *

* * * Vermont Insurance Data Security Law * * *

Sec. 20. 8 V.S.A. § 4728 is added to read:

§ 4728. INSURANCE DATA SECURITY

(a) Title. This section shall be known and may be cited as the “Vermont Insurance Data Security Law.”

(b) Construction.

(1) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, this section establishes the exclusive State standards applicable to licensees for data security and for the investigation of a cybersecurity event.

(2) This section shall not be construed to change any aspect of the Security Breach Notice Act, 9 V.S.A. § 2435.

(3) This section may not be construed to create or imply a private cause of action for violation of its provisions, nor may it be construed to curtail a

private cause of action which would otherwise exist in the absence of this section.

(4) A licensee in compliance with N.Y. Comp. Codes R. & Regs. Title 23, section 500, Cybersecurity Requirements for Financial Services Companies, effective March 1, 2017, shall be considered to meet the requirements of this section, provided that the licensee submits a written statement to the Commissioner certifying such compliance.

(c) Definitions. As used in this section:

(1) “Authorized person” means a person known to and screened by the licensee and determined to be necessary and appropriate to have access to the nonpublic information held by the licensee and its information systems.

(2) “Consumer” means an individual, including but not limited to an applicant, policyholder, insured, beneficiary, claimant, or certificate holder, who is a resident of this State and whose nonpublic information is in a licensee’s possession, custody, or control.

(3) “Cybersecurity event” means an event resulting in unauthorized access to or disruption or misuse of an information system or nonpublic information stored on such information system. The term “cybersecurity event” does not include:

(A) the unauthorized acquisition of encrypted nonpublic information if the encryption, process, or key is not also acquired, released, or used without authorization; or

(B) an event with regard to which the licensee has determined that the nonpublic information accessed by an unauthorized person has not been used or released and has been returned or destroyed.

(4) “Encrypted” means the transformation of data into a form that results in a low probability of assigning meaning without the use of a protective process or key.

(5) “Information security program” means the administrative, technical, and physical safeguards that a licensee uses to access, collect, distribute, process, protect, store, use, transmit, dispose of, or otherwise handle nonpublic information.

(6) “Information system” means a discrete set of electronic information resources organized for the collection, processing, maintenance, use, sharing, dissemination, or disposition of electronic information, as well as any specialized system such as an industrial/process controls system, telephone

switching and private branch exchange system, or environmental control system.

(7) “Licensee” means a person licensed, authorized to operate, or registered or required to be licensed, authorized, or registered pursuant to the insurance laws of this State, but shall not include:

(A) a captive insurance company;

(B) a purchasing group or risk retention group chartered; or

(C) a licensee domiciled in a jurisdiction other than this State or a person that is acting as an assuming insurer for a licensee domiciled in this State.

(8) “Multi-factor authentication” means authentication through verification of at least two of the following types of authentication factors:

(A) a knowledge factor, such as a password;

(B) a possession factor, such as a token or text message on a mobile phone; or

(C) an inherence factor, such as a biometric characteristic.

(9) “Nonpublic information” means information that is not publicly available information and is:

(A) business-related information of a licensee, the tampering with which, or unauthorized disclosure, access, or use of which would cause a material adverse impact to the business, operations, or security of the licensee;

(B) information concerning a consumer that, because of name, number, personal mark, or other identifier, can be used to identify such consumer, in combination with any one or more of the following data elements:

(i) Social Security number;

(ii) driver’s license number or nondriver identification card number;

(iii) individual taxpayer identification number;

(iv) passport number;

(v) military identification card number;

(vi) financial account number or credit or debit card number;

(vii) security code, access code, or password that would permit access to a consumer’s financial account; or

(viii) biometric record;

(C) information or data, except age or gender, in any form or medium created by or derived from a health care provider or a consumer, that relates to:

(i) the past, present, or future physical, mental, or behavioral health or condition of any consumer or a member of the consumer's family;

(ii) the provision of health care to any consumer; or

(iii) payment for the provision of health care to any consumer.

(10)(A) "Publicly available information" means information that a licensee has a reasonable basis to believe is lawfully made available to the general public from federal, state, or local government records, widely distributed media, or disclosures to the general public that are required to be made by federal, state, or local law.

(B) As used in this subdivision, a licensee has a "reasonable basis to believe" that information is lawfully made available to the general public if the licensee has taken steps to determine:

(i) that the information is of the type that is available to the general public; and

(ii) whether a consumer can direct that the information not be made available to the general public and, if so, that the consumer has not done so.

(11) "Risk assessment" means the risk assessment that each licensee is required to conduct under subdivision (d)(3) of this section.

(12) "Third-party service provider" means a person, not otherwise defined as a licensee, that contracts with a licensee to maintain, process, or store nonpublic information or is otherwise permitted access to nonpublic information through its provision of services to the licensee.

(d) Information Security Program.

(1) Commensurate with the size and complexity of the licensee, the nature and scope of the licensee's activities, including its use of third-party service providers, and the sensitivity of the nonpublic information used by the licensee or in the licensee's possession, custody, or control, each licensee shall develop, implement, and maintain a comprehensive written information security program that is based on the licensee's risk assessment and contains administrative, technical, and physical safeguards for the protection of nonpublic information and the licensee's information system.

(2) A licensee's information security program shall be designed to:

(A) protect the security and confidentiality of nonpublic information and the security of the information system;

(B) protect against any threats or hazards to the security or integrity of nonpublic information and the information system;

(C) protect against unauthorized access to or use of nonpublic information and minimize the likelihood of harm to any consumer; and

(D) define and periodically reevaluate a schedule for retention of nonpublic information and a mechanism for its destruction when no longer needed.

(3) The licensee shall:

(A) designate one or more employees, an affiliate, or an outside vendor designated to act on behalf of the licensee to be responsible for the information security program;

(B) identify reasonably foreseeable internal or external threats that could result in unauthorized access, transmission, disclosure, misuse, alteration, or destruction of nonpublic information, including the security of information systems and nonpublic information that are accessible to or held by third-party service providers;

(C) assess the likelihood and potential damage of these threats, taking into consideration the sensitivity of the nonpublic information;

(D) assess the sufficiency of policies, procedures, information systems, and other safeguards in place to manage these threats, including consideration of threats in each relevant area of the licensee's operations, including:

(i) employee training and management;

(ii) information systems, including network and software design, as well as information classification, governance, processing, storage, transmission, and disposal; and

(iii) detecting, preventing, and responding to attacks, intrusions, or other systems failures; and

(E) implement information safeguards to manage the threats identified in its ongoing assessment and, not less than annually, assess the effectiveness of the safeguards' key controls, systems, and procedures.

(4) Based on its risk assessment, the licensee shall:

(A) Design its information security program to mitigate the identified risks, commensurate with the size and complexity of the licensee, the nature and scope of the licensee's activities, including its use of third-party service providers, and the sensitivity of the nonpublic information used by the licensee or in the licensee's possession, custody, or control.

(B) Determine which security measures listed below are appropriate and implement such security measures:

(i) place access controls on information systems, including controls to authenticate and permit access only to authorized persons to protect against the unauthorized acquisition of nonpublic information;

(ii) identify and manage the data, personnel, devices, systems, and facilities that enable the organization to achieve business purposes in accordance with their relative importance to business objectives and the organization's risk strategy;

(iii) restrict physical access to nonpublic information to authorized persons only;

(iv) protect by encryption or other appropriate means all nonpublic information while being transmitted over an external network and all nonpublic information stored on a laptop computer or other portable computing or storage device or media;

(v) adopt secure development practices for in-house developed applications utilized by the licensee and procedures for evaluating, assessing, or testing the security of externally developed applications utilized by the licensee;

(vi) modify the information system in accordance with the licensee's information security program;

(vii) utilize effective controls, which may include multi-factor authentication procedures, for any individual accessing nonpublic information;

(viii) regularly test and monitor systems and procedures to detect actual and attempted attacks on or intrusions into information systems;

(ix) include audit trails within the information security program designed to detect and respond to cybersecurity events and reconstruct material financial transactions sufficient to support normal operations and obligations of the licensee;

(x) implement measures to protect against destruction, loss, or damage of nonpublic information due to environmental hazards, such as fire and water damage or other catastrophes or technological failures; and

(xi) develop, implement, and maintain procedures for the secure disposal of nonpublic information in any format.

(C) Include cybersecurity risks in the licensee's enterprise risk management process.

(D) Stay informed regarding emerging threats and vulnerabilities and utilize reasonable security measures when sharing information relative to the character of the sharing and the type of information shared.

(E) Provide its personnel with cybersecurity awareness training that is updated as necessary to reflect risks identified by the licensee in the risk assessment.

(5)(A) If the licensee has a board of directors, the board or an appropriate committee of the board shall, at a minimum:

(i) require the licensee's executive management or its delegates to develop, implement, and maintain the licensee's information security program;

(ii) require the licensee's executive management or its delegates to report in writing at least annually the following information:

(I) the overall status of the information security program and the licensee's compliance with this section; and

(II) material matters related to the information security program, addressing issues such as risk assessment; risk management and control decisions; third-party service provider arrangements; results of testing, cybersecurity events, or violations and management's responses thereto; and recommendations for changes in the information security program.

(B) If executive management delegates any of its responsibilities under subsection (d) of this section, it shall oversee the development, implementation, and maintenance of the licensee's information security program prepared by the delegate or delegates and shall receive a report from the delegate or delegates complying with the requirements of the report to the board of directors.

(6)(A) A licensee shall exercise due diligence in selecting its third-party service provider.

(B) A licensee shall require a third-party service provider to implement appropriate administrative, technical, and physical measures to protect and secure the information systems and nonpublic information that are accessible to or held by the third-party service provider.

(7) A licensee shall monitor, evaluate, and adjust, as appropriate, the information security program consistent with any relevant changes in technology, the sensitivity of its nonpublic information, internal or external threats to information, and the licensee's own changing business arrangements, such as mergers and acquisitions, alliances and joint ventures, outsourcing arrangements, and changes to information systems.

(8)(A) As part of its information security program, a licensee shall establish a written incident response plan designed to promptly respond to and recover from any cybersecurity event that compromises the confidentiality, integrity, or availability of nonpublic information in its possession; the licensee's information systems; or the continuing functionality of any aspect of the licensee's business or operations.

(B) The incident response plan shall address the following areas:

(i) the internal process for responding to a cybersecurity event;

(ii) the goals of the incident response plan;

(iii) the definition of clear roles, responsibilities, and levels of decision-making authority;

(iv) external and internal communications and information sharing;

(v) identification of requirements for the remediation of any identified weaknesses in information systems and associated controls;

(vi) documentation and reporting regarding cybersecurity events and related incident response activities; and

(vii) the evaluation and revision as necessary of the incident response plan following a cybersecurity event.

(9) Annually, each insurer domiciled in this State shall submit to the Commissioner a written statement on or before April 15, certifying that the insurer is compliant with the requirements established in subsection (d) of this section. Each insurer shall maintain for examination by the Commissioner all records, schedules, and data supporting this certificate for a period of five years. To the extent an insurer has identified areas, systems, or processes that require material improvement, updating, or redesign, the insurer shall document the identification and the remedial efforts planned and underway to address such areas, systems, or processes. Such documentation shall be available for inspection by the Commissioner.

(e) Investigation of a Cybersecurity Event.

(1) If the licensee learns that a cybersecurity event has or may have occurred, the licensee or an outside vendor or service provider, or both, designated to act on behalf of the licensee shall conduct a prompt investigation.

(2) During the investigation, the licensee or an outside vendor or service provider, or both, designated to act on behalf of the licensee shall, at a minimum, make the best effort to:

(A) determine whether a cybersecurity event has occurred;

(B) assess the nature and scope of the cybersecurity event;

(C) identify any nonpublic information that may have been involved in the cybersecurity event; and

(D) perform or oversee reasonable measures to restore the security of the information systems compromised in the cybersecurity event in order to prevent further unauthorized acquisition, release, or use of nonpublic information in the licensee's possession, custody, or control.

(3) The licensee shall maintain records concerning all cybersecurity events for a period of at least five years from the date of the cybersecurity event and shall produce those records upon demand of the Commissioner.

(f) Power of Commissioner.

(1) The Commissioner shall have power to examine and investigate into the affairs of any licensee to determine whether the licensee has been or is engaged in any conduct in violation of this section. This power is in addition to the powers the Commissioner has under section 4726 of this title and 9 V.S.A. § 2435(h)(2). Any such investigation or examination shall be conducted pursuant to section 4726 of this title.

(2) Whenever the Commissioner has reason to believe that a licensee has been or is engaged in conduct in this State that violates this section, the Commissioner may take action that is necessary or appropriate to enforce the provisions of this section.

(g) Confidentiality.

(1) Any documents, materials or other information in the control or possession of the Commissioner that are furnished by a licensee or an employee or agent thereof acting on behalf of the licensee pursuant to subdivision (d)(8) of this section, or that are obtained by the Commissioner in an investigation or examination pursuant to subsection (f) of this section, shall be confidential by law and privileged, shall not be subject to 1 V.S.A. §§ 315–320, shall not be subject to subpoena, and shall not be subject to discovery or

admissible in evidence in any private civil action. However, the Commissioner is authorized to use the documents, materials, or other information in the furtherance of any regulatory or legal action brought as a part of the Commissioner's duties.

(2) Neither the Commissioner nor any person who received documents, materials, or other information while acting under the authority of the Commissioner shall be permitted or required to testify in any private civil action concerning any confidential documents, materials, or information subject to subdivision (g)(1) of this section.

(3) To assist in the performance of the Commissioner's duties under this section, the Commissioner may:

(A) share documents, materials, or other information, including confidential and privileged documents, materials, or information subject to subdivision (g)(1) of this section, with other state, federal, and international regulatory agencies, the National Association of Insurance Commissioners, its affiliates or subsidiaries, and state, federal, and international law enforcement authorities, provided that the recipient agrees in writing to maintain the confidentiality and privileged status of the document, material, or other information shared;

(B) receive documents, materials, or information, including otherwise confidential and privileged documents, materials, or information, from the National Association of Insurance Commissioners, its affiliates or subsidiaries, and from regulatory and law enforcement officials of other foreign or domestic jurisdictions, and shall maintain as confidential or privileged any document, material, or information received with notice or the understanding that it is confidential or privileged under the laws of the jurisdiction that is the source of the document, material, or information;

(C) share documents, materials, or other information subject to subdivision (g)(1) of this section with a third-party consultant or vendor, provided that the consultant agrees in writing to maintain the confidentiality and privileged status of the document, material, or other information shared; and

(D) enter into agreements governing the sharing and use of information consistent with this subsection.

(4) No waiver of any applicable privilege or claim of confidentiality in any document, material, or information shall occur as a result of its disclosure to the Commissioner under this section or as a result of sharing as authorized in subdivision (g)(3) of this section.

(5) Nothing in this section shall prohibit the Commissioner from releasing final adjudicated actions that are open to public inspection pursuant to 1 V.S.A. §§ 315–320 to a database or other clearinghouse service maintained by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners or its affiliates or subsidiaries.

(h) Exceptions.

(1) The following exceptions apply to this section:

(A) A licensee with fewer than 20 employees, including any independent contractors, is exempt from subsection (d) of this section.

(B) A licensee that is in possession of protected health information subject to the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA), Pub. L. No. 104–191, 110 Stat. 1936, that has established and maintains an information security program pursuant to such statutes and the rules, regulations, procedures, or guidelines established under HIPAA, is considered to meet the requirements of subsection (d) of this section, provided that the licensee is compliant with, and annually submits a written statement to, the Commissioner certifying its compliance with such program. As used in this section, the definition of “protected health information” is as set forth in HIPAA and the regulations promulgated under HIPAA and shall be considered to be a subset of nonpublic information.

(C) An employee, agent, representative, or designee of a licensee, who is also a licensee, is exempt from subsection (d) of this section and need not develop its own information security program to the extent that the employee, agent, representative, or designee is covered by the information security program of the other licensee.

(D) A licensee that is affiliated with a financial institution, as defined in subdivision 11101(32) of this title, or a credit union, as defined in subdivision 30101(5) of this title, that has established and maintains an information security program in compliance with the interagency guidelines establishing standards for safeguarding customer information as set forth in section 501(b) of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, 15 U.S.C. § 6801 et seq., is considered to meet the requirements of subsection (d) of this section, provided that the licensee produces, upon request, documentation satisfactory to the Commissioner that independently validates the affiliated financial institution’s or credit union’s adoption of an information security program that satisfies the interagency guidelines.

(2) In the event that a licensee ceases to qualify for an exception, such licensee shall have 180 days to comply with this section.

(i) Penalties. In the case of a violation of this section, a licensee may be penalized in accordance with section 3661 or 4726 of this title, as appropriate.

(j) Effective date. This section shall take effect on January 1, 2023. A licensee shall have one year from the effective date of this section to implement subsection (d) of this section, other than subdivision (d)(6) of this section. A licensee shall have two years from the effective date of this section to implement subdivision (d)(6) of this section.

* * * Vermont Whistleblower Award and Protection Act * * *

Sec. 21. 9 V.S.A. § 5616 is amended to read:

§ 5616. VERMONT FINANCIAL SERVICES EDUCATION AND VICTIM
RESTITUTION SPECIAL FUND

(a) Purpose. The purpose of this section is to provide:

(1) funds for the purposes specified in subsection 5601(d) of this title;
~~and~~

(2) restitution assistance to victims of securities violations who:

(A) were awarded restitution in a final order issued by the Commissioner or were awarded restitution in the final order in a legal action initiated by the Commissioner;

(B) have not received the full amount of restitution ordered before the application for restitution assistance is due; and

(C) demonstrate to the Commissioner's satisfaction that there is no reasonable likelihood that they will receive the full amount of restitution in the future; and

(3) funds for the purposes specified in section 5617 of this title.

* * *

(f) Vermont Financial Services Education, ~~and~~ Victim Restitution, and Whistleblower Award Special Fund. The Vermont Financial Services Education, ~~and~~ Victim Restitution, and Whistleblower Award Special Fund, pursuant to 32 V.S.A. chapter 7, subchapter 5, is created to provide funds for the purposes specified in this section, ~~and~~ in subsection 5601(d) of this title, ~~and~~ in section 5617 of this title. All monies received by the State for use in financial services education initiatives pursuant to subsection 5601(d) of this title, ~~or~~ in providing uncompensated victims restitution pursuant to this section, or in providing whistleblower awards pursuant to section 5617 of this title shall be deposited into the Fund. The Commissioner may direct a party to

deposit a sum not to exceed 15 percent of the total settlement amount into the Fund in conjunction with settling a State securities law enforcement matter. Interest earned on the Fund shall be retained in the Fund.

* * *

Sec. 22. 9 V.S.A. § 5617 is added to read:

§ 5617. VERMONT WHISTLEBLOWER AWARD AND PROTECTION

ACT

(a) Purpose. The purpose of this section is to provide:

(1) protection from retaliation for whistleblowers and internal reporters who comply with the requirements in this section; and

(2) monetary awards to whistleblowers who voluntarily provide original information that leads to the successful enforcement of an administrative or judicial action under chapter 150 of this title.

(b) Definitions. As used in this section,

(1) “Monetary sanction” means any monies, including penalties, disgorgement, and interest ordered to be paid as a result of an administrative or judicial action.

(2) “Original information” means information that is:

(A) derived from the independent knowledge or analysis of a whistleblower;

(B) not already known to the Commissioner from any other source, unless the whistleblower is the original source of the information;

(C) not exclusively derived from an allegation made in an administrative or judicial hearing; in a governmental report, hearing, audit, or investigation; or from the news media, unless the whistleblower is the source of the information; and

(D) provided to the Commissioner for the first time after the date of the enactment of this section.

(3) “Whistleblower” means an individual who, alone or jointly with others, provides the State or other law enforcement agency with information pursuant to the provisions set forth in this section, and the information relates to a possible violation of state or federal securities laws, including any rules or regulations adopted or promulgated under such laws, that has occurred, is ongoing, or is about to occur.

(c) Authority to make a whistleblower award. Subject to the provisions of this section, the Commissioner may award an amount to one or more whistleblowers who voluntarily provide, in writing, in the form and manner required by the Commissioner, original information that leads to the successful enforcement of an administrative or judicial action under chapter 150 of this title.

(d) Anonymous whistleblower complaints. Any individual who anonymously makes a claim for a whistleblower award shall be represented by counsel if the individual anonymously submits the information upon which the claim is based. Prior to the payment of an award, a previously anonymous whistleblower shall disclose the whistleblower's identity and provide such other information as the Commissioner may require, directly or through counsel for the whistleblower. Failure to provide such information shall be a basis to deny compensation under this section.

(e) Amount of a whistleblower award. If the Commissioner determines to make one or more awards under this section, the aggregate amount of awards that may be awarded in connection with an administrative or judicial action may not be less than 10 percent nor more than 30 percent of the monetary sanctions imposed and collected in the related administrative or judicial action.

(f) Discretion to determine the amount of a whistleblower award. The determination of the amount of an award made under this section shall be in the discretion of the Commissioner consistent with subsections (e) and (h) of this section.

(g) Source of payment of whistleblower award. Any whistleblower awards paid under this section shall be paid from the fund established in section 5616 of this title.

(h) Factors used to determine the amount of a whistleblower award. In determining the amount of an award under this section, the Commissioner shall consider:

(1) the significance of the original information provided by the whistleblower to the success of the administrative or judicial action;

(2) the degree of assistance provided by the whistleblower in connection with the administrative or judicial action;

(3) the programmatic interest of the Commissioner in deterring violations of the securities laws by making awards to whistleblowers who provide original information that leads to the successful enforcement of such laws; and

(4) any other factors the Commissioner considers relevant.

(i) Disqualification from award. The Commissioner shall not provide an award to a whistleblower under this section if the whistleblower:

(1) is convicted of a crime in connection with the administrative or judicial action for which the whistleblower otherwise could receive an award;

(2) acquires the original information through the performance of an audit of financial statements required under the securities laws and for whom providing the original information violates 15 U.S.C. § 78j-1;

(3) fails to timely submit information to the Commissioner in such form as the Commissioner may prescribe;

(4) knowingly or recklessly makes a false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or representation as part of, or in connection with, the original information provided or the administrative or judicial proceeding for which the original information was provided;

(5) in the whistleblower's submission, its other dealings with the Commissioner, or in its dealings with another authority in connection with a possible violation or related action, knowingly or recklessly makes any false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or representation or uses or provides any false writing or document knowing that or having a reckless disregard as to whether it contains any false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or entry;

(6) has a legal duty to report the original information to the Commissioner;

(7) is, or was at the time the whistleblower acquired the original information submitted to the Commissioner, a member, officer, or employee of the Department of Financial Regulation, the Securities and Exchange Commission, any other state securities regulatory authority, a self-regulatory organization, the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, or any law enforcement organization;

(8) is, or was at the time the whistleblower acquired the original information submitted to the Commissioner, a member, officer, or employee of a foreign government, any political subdivision, department, agency, or instrumentality of a foreign government, or any other foreign financial regulatory authority as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C. § 78c(a)(52);

(9) is the spouse, parent, child, or sibling of, or resides in the same household as, the Commissioner or an employee of the Department of Financial Regulation; or

(10) directly or indirectly acquires the original information provided to the Commissioner from a person:

(A) who is subject to subdivision (i)(2) of this section, unless the information is not excluded from that person's use, or provides the Commissioner with information about possible violations involving that person;

(B) who is a person described in subdivision (i)(7), (8), or (9) of this section; or

(C) with the intent to evade any provision of this section.

(j) Protection of whistleblowers and internal reporters.

(1) No employer may terminate, discharge, demote, suspend, threaten, harass, directly or indirectly, or in any other manner retaliate against, an individual because of any lawful act done by the individual:

(A) in providing information to the State or other law enforcement agency concerning a possible violation of state or federal securities laws, including any rules or regulations adopted or promulgated under such laws, that has occurred, is ongoing, or is about to occur;

(B) in initiating, testifying in, or assisting in any investigation or administrative or judicial action of the Commissioner or other law enforcement agency based upon or related to such information;

(C) in making disclosures that are required or protected under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (15 U.S.C. § 7201 et seq.), the Securities Act of 1933 (15 U.S.C. § 77a et seq.), the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. § 78a et seq.), 18 U.S.C. § 1513(e), any other law, rule, or regulation subject to the jurisdiction of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or chapter 150 of this title or a rule adopted under chapter 150 of this title; or

(D) in making disclosures to a person with supervisory authority over the employee or to such other person working for the employer who has the authority to investigate, discover, or terminate misconduct regarding matters subject to the jurisdiction of the Commissioner or the Securities and Exchange Commission.

(2) Notwithstanding subdivision (j)(1) of this section, an individual is not protected under this section if:

(A) the individual knowingly or recklessly makes a false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or representation as part of, or in connection with, the original information provided or the administrative or judicial proceeding for which the original information was provided; or

(B) the individual, in its dealings with its supervisor, the State, law enforcement, or any other authority in connection with a possible violation or

related action, knowingly or recklessly makes any false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or representation or uses or provides any false writing or document knowing that or having a reckless disregard as to whether it contains any false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or entry.

(3) An individual who alleges any act of retaliation in violation of subdivision (j)(1) of this section may bring an action for the relief provided in subdivision (j)(6) of this section in the court of original jurisdiction for the county or state where the alleged violation occurs, the individual resides, or the person against whom the action is filed resides or has a principal place of business.

(4) A subpoena requiring the attendance of a witness at a trial or hearing conducted under subdivision (j)(3) of this section may be served at any place in the United States.

(5) An action under subdivision (j)(3) of this section may not be brought more than the latest of:

(A) six years after the date on which the violation of subdivision (j)(1) of this section occurred;

(B) three years after the date when facts material to the right of action are known or reasonably should have been known by the employee alleging a violation of subdivision (j)(1) of this section;

(C) but in no event more than 10 years after the date on which the violation occurs.

(6) A court may award as relief for an individual prevailing in an action brought under this subsection:

(A) reinstatement with the same compensation, fringe benefits, and seniority status that the individual would have had, but for the retaliation;

(B) two times the amount of back pay otherwise owed to the individual, with interest;

(C) compensation for litigation costs, expert witness fees, and reasonable attorneys' fees;

(D) actual damages;

(E) an injunction to restrain a violation; or

(F) any combination of these remedies.

(7) Information that could reasonably be expected to reveal the identity of a whistleblower is exempt from public disclosure under 1 V.S.A. § 316.

This subsection does not limit the ability of any person to present evidence to a grand jury or to share evidence with potential witnesses or defendants in the course of an ongoing criminal investigation.

(8) No person may take any action to impede an individual from communicating directly with the Commissioner or the Commissioner's staff about a possible securities law violation, including enforcing, or threatening to enforce, a confidentiality agreement with respect to such communications, except with respect to:

(A) agreements concerning communications covered by the attorney-client privilege, unless disclosure of that information would otherwise be permitted by an attorney under applicable state attorney conduct rules or otherwise; and

(B) information obtained in connection with legal representation of a client on whose behalf an individual or the individual's employer or firm are providing services, and the individual is seeking to use the information to make a whistleblower submission for the individual's own benefit, unless disclosure would otherwise be permitted by an attorney pursuant to applicable state attorney conduct rules or otherwise.

(9) The rights and remedies provided for in this section may not be waived by any agreement, policy form, or condition of employment, including by a predispute arbitration agreement.

(10) Nothing in this section shall be deemed to diminish the rights, privileges, or remedies of any individual under any federal or state law, or under any collective bargaining agreement.

(k) The Commissioner may adopt such rules as may be necessary or appropriate to implement the provisions of this section consistent with its purpose.

* * * Credit for Reinsurance * * *

Sec. 23. 8 V.S.A. § 3634a is amended to read:

§ 3634a. CREDIT FOR REINSURANCE

(a) Purpose. It is the purpose of this section to protect the interest of insureds, claimants, ceding insurers, assuming insurers, and the public generally. The General Assembly hereby declares its intent is to ensure adequate regulation of insurers and reinsurers and adequate protection for those to whom they owe obligations. In furtherance of that State interest, the General Assembly hereby provides a mandate that upon the insolvency of a non-U.S. insurer or reinsurer that provides security to fund its U.S. obligations

in accordance with this section, the assets representing the security shall be maintained in the United States and claims shall be filed with and valued by the state insurance Commissioner with regulatory oversight, and the assets shall be distributed in accordance with the insurance laws of the state in which the trust is domiciled that are applicable to the liquidation of domestic U.S. insurance companies. The General Assembly declares that the matters contained in this section are fundamental to the business of insurance in accordance with 15 U.S.C. §§ 1011-1012.

(b) Credit allowed a domestic ceding insurer. Credit for reinsurance shall be allowed a domestic ceding insurer as either an asset or a ~~deduction~~ reduction from liability on account of reinsurance ceded only when the reinsurer meets the requirements of subdivision (1), (2), (3), (4), (5), (6), or (7) of this subsection (b), provided that the Commissioner may adopt by rule or regulation pursuant to subdivision (e)(2) of this section specific additional requirements relating to any or all of the following: the valuation of assets or reserve credits, the amount and forms of security supporting reinsurance arrangements described in subdivision (e)(2) of this section, or the circumstances pursuant to which credit will be reduced or eliminated. Credit shall be allowed under subdivision (1), (2), or (3) of this subsection (b) only with respect to cessions of those kinds or classes of business that the assuming insurer is licensed or otherwise permitted to write or assume in its state of domicile or, in the case of a U.S. branch of an alien assuming insurer, in the state through which it is entered and licensed to transact insurance or reinsurance. Credit shall be allowed under subdivision (3) or (4) of this subsection (b) only if the applicable requirements of subdivision (8) of this subsection (b) have been satisfied.

(1) Credit shall be allowed when the reinsurance is ceded to an assuming insurer that is licensed to transact insurance or reinsurance in this State.

(2) Credit shall be allowed when the reinsurance is ceded to an assuming insurer that is accredited by the Commissioner as a reinsurer in this State. An accredited reinsurer is one that:

(A) files with the Commissioner evidence of its submission to this State's jurisdiction;

(B) submits to this State's authority to examine its books and records;

(C) is licensed to transact insurance or reinsurance in at least one state or, in the case of a U.S. branch of an alien assuming insurer, is entered through and licensed to transact insurance or reinsurance in at least one state;

(D) files annually with the Commissioner ~~on or before March 1 of each year~~ a copy of its annual statement filed with the insurance department of its state of domicile and ~~files on or before June 1 of each year~~ a copy of its most recent audited financial statement;

(E) files with the Commissioner its charter, bylaws, and any other material required by the Commissioner;

(F) pays an initial fee of \$500.00 and thereafter an annual fee of \$200.00 on or before March 1 of each year; and

(G) demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Commissioner that it has adequate financial capacity to meet its reinsurance obligations and is otherwise qualified to assume reinsurance from domestic insurers. An assuming insurer is deemed to meet this requirement, provided that at the time of its application it:

(i) maintains a surplus for policyholders that is not less than \$20,000,000.00 and whose accreditation has not been denied by the Commissioner within 90 days of following its submission; or

(ii) maintains a surplus for policyholders in an amount less than \$20,000,000.00 and whose accreditation has been approved the Commissioner.

~~(H) Credit for reinsurance ceded to a certified reinsurer shall be permitted only for reinsurance contracts entered into or renewed on or after the effective date of the certification of the assuming insurer by the Commissioner.~~

(3)(A) Credit shall be allowed when the reinsurance is ceded to an assuming insurer ~~which~~ that is domiciled and licensed in, or in the case of a U.S. branch of an alien assuming insurer is entered through, a state that employs standards regarding credit for reinsurance substantially similar to those applicable under this statute and the assuming insurer or U.S. branch of an alien assuming insurer:

(i) maintains a surplus for policyholders in an amount not less than \$20,000,000.00; and

(ii) submits to the authority of this State to examine its books and records.

(B) The requirement of subdivision (3)(A)(i) of this subsection (b) does not apply to reinsurance ceded and assumed pursuant to pooling arrangements among insurers in the same holding company system.

(4)(A) Credit shall be allowed when the reinsurance is ceded to an assuming insurer ~~which~~ that maintains a trust fund in a qualified U.S. financial institution, as defined in subdivision (d)(2) of this section, for the payment of

the valid claims of its U.S. ~~policyholders and~~ ceding insurers, their assigns, and successors in interest. The assuming insurer shall report annually to the Commissioner information required by the Commissioner and substantially the same as that required to be reported on the National Association of Insurance Commissioners' Annual Statement form by licensed insurers to enable the Commissioner to determine the sufficiency of the trust fund. ~~On or before February 28 of each year, the trustees of the trust shall report to the Commissioner in writing setting forth the balance of the trust and listing the trust's investments at the preceding year end and shall certify the date of termination of the trust, if so planned, or certify that the trust shall not expire prior to the next following December 31. A trust and trust instrument maintained pursuant to this subdivision shall:~~

~~(i) be established in a form and upon such terms approved by the Commissioner;~~

~~(ii) provide that contested claims shall be valid and enforceable upon the final order of any court of competent jurisdiction in the United States;~~

~~(iii) vest legal title to its assets in the trustees of the trust for its U.S. policyholders and ceding insurers, their assigns and successors in interest;~~

~~(iv) be subject to examination as determined by the Commissioner;~~

~~(v) remain in effect for as long as the assuming insurer shall have outstanding obligations due under the reinsurance agreements subject to the trust; and~~

~~(vi) be filed with the Commissioner of every state in which the ceding insurer beneficiaries of the trust are domiciled. The assuming insurer shall submit to examination of its books and records by the Commissioner and bear the expense of the examination.~~

(B)(i) Credit for reinsurance shall not be granted under this subsection (b) unless the form of the trust and any amendments to the trust have been approved by:

(I) the commissioner of the state where the trust is domiciled;
or

(II) the commissioner of another state who, pursuant to the terms of the trust instrument, has accepted principal regulatory oversight of the trust.

(ii) The form of the trust and any trust amendments also shall be filed with the commissioner of every state in which the ceding insurer beneficiaries of the trust are domiciled. The trust instrument shall provide that contested claims shall be valid and enforceable upon the final order of any court of competent jurisdiction in the United States. The trust shall vest legal title to its assets in its trustees for the benefit of the assuming insurer's U.S. ceding insurers, their assigns, and successors in interest. The trust and the assuming insurer shall be subject to examination as determined by the Commissioner.

(iii) The trust shall remain in effect for as long as the assuming insurer has outstanding obligations due under the reinsurance agreements subject to the trust. Not later than February 28 of each year the trustee of the trust shall report to the Commissioner in writing the balance of the trust and a list of the trust's investments at the preceding year-end and shall certify the date of termination of the trust, if so planned, or certify that the trust will not expire prior to the following December 31.

(C) The following requirements shall apply to the following categories of assuming insurer:

(i) In the case of a single assuming insurer, the trust fund shall consist of a ~~trusteed account~~ funds in trust in an amount not less than representing the assuming insurer's liabilities attributable to ~~business written in the United States~~ reinsurance ceded by U.S. ceding insurers, and, in addition, the assuming insurer shall maintain a trusteed surplus of not less than \$20,000,000.00, except at any time after the assuming insurer has permanently discontinued underwriting new business secured by the trust for at least three full years, the ~~Commissioner~~ commissioner with principal regulatory oversight of the trust may authorize a reduction in the required trusteed surplus, but only after a finding, based on an assessment of the risk, that the new required surplus level is adequate for the protection of U.S. ceding insurers, policyholders, and claimants in light of reasonably foreseeable adverse loss development. The risk assessment may involve an actuarial review, including an independent analysis of reserves and cash flows, and shall consider all material risk factors, including when applicable the lines of business involved, the stability of the incurred loss estimates, and the effect of the surplus requirements on the assuming insurer's liquidity or solvency. The minimum required trusteed surplus may not be reduced to an amount less than 30 percent of the assuming insurer's liabilities attributable to reinsurance ceded by U.S. ceding insurers covered by the trust.

~~(C)(ii)(I)~~ In the case of a group including incorporated and individual unincorporated underwriters, the trust shall consist of a trusteed account

~~representing the group's liabilities attributable to business written in the United States and, in addition, the group shall maintain a trusted surplus of which \$100,000,000.00 shall be held jointly for the benefit of U.S. ceding insurers of any member of the group; the incorporated members of the group shall not engage in any business other than underwriting as a member of the group and shall be subject to the same level of solvency regulation and control by the group's domiciliary regulator as are the unincorporated members; and the group shall make available to the Commissioner an annual certification of the solvency of each underwriter by the group's domiciliary regulator and its independent public accountants:~~

(aa) for reinsurance ceded under reinsurance agreements with an inception, amendment, or renewal date on or after January 1, 1993, the trust shall consist of a trusted account in an amount not less than the respective underwriters' several liabilities attributable to business ceded by U.S. domiciled ceding insurers to any underwriter of the group;

(bb) for reinsurance ceded under reinsurance agreements with an inception date on or before December 31, 1992, and not amended or renewed after that date, notwithstanding the other provisions of this section, the trust shall consist of a trusted account in an amount not less than the respective underwriters' several insurance and reinsurance liabilities attributable to business written in the United States; and

(cc) in addition to the trusts specified in subdivisions (aa) and (bb) of this subdivision (C)(ii)(I), the group shall maintain in trust a trusted surplus of which \$100,000,000.00 shall be held jointly for the benefit of U.S. domiciled ceding insurers of any member of the group for all years of the account.

(II) The incorporated members of the group shall not engage in any business other than underwriting as a member of the group and shall be subject to the same level of regulation and solvency control by the group's domiciliary regulator as are the unincorporated members.

(III) Within 90 days after its financial statements are due to be filed with the group's domiciliary regulator, the group shall provide to the Commissioner an annual certification of the solvency of each underwriter member by the group's domiciliary regulator or, if certification is unavailable, financial statements prepared by independent public accountants of each underwriter member of the group.

~~(D)(iii) In the case of a group of incorporated insurers under common administration which complies with the filing requirements contained in subdivision (b)(2) of this section and which has, the group shall:~~

~~(I) have continuously transacted an insurance business outside the United States for at least three years immediately prior to making application for accreditation, and submits to this State's authority to examine its books and records and bears the expense of the examination, and which has aggregate policyholders' surplus of \$10,000,000,000.00, the trust shall be in an amount equal to the group's several liabilities attributable to business ceded by U.S. ceding insurers to any member of the group pursuant to reinsurance contracts issued in the name of such group, plus the group shall maintain a joint trustee surplus of which \$100,000,000.00 shall be held jointly for the benefit of U.S. ceding insurers of any member of the group as additional security for any such liabilities, and each member of the group shall make available to the Commissioner an annual certification of the member's solvency by the member's domiciliary regulator and its independent public accountant;~~

~~(II) maintain aggregate policyholders' surplus of at least \$10,000,000,000.00;~~

~~(III) maintain a trust fund in an amount not less than the group's several liabilities attributable to business ceded by U.S. domiciled ceding insurers to any member of the group pursuant to reinsurance contracts issued in the name of such group;~~

~~(IV) maintain a joint trustee surplus of which \$100,000,000.00 shall be held jointly for the benefit of U.S. domiciled ceding insurers of any member of the group as additional security for liabilities; and~~

~~(V) within 90 days after its financial statements are due to be filed with the group's domiciliary regulator, make available to the Commissioner an annual certification of each underwriter member's solvency by the member's domiciliary regulator and financial statements of each underwriter member of the group prepared by an independent public accountant.~~

(5) Credit shall be allowed when the reinsurance is ceded to an assuming insurer that has been certified by the Commissioner as a reinsurer in this State and secures its obligations in accordance with the requirements of this subdivision.

(A) In order to be eligible for certification, the assuming insurer shall:

(i) be domiciled and licensed to transact insurance or reinsurance in a qualified jurisdiction, as determined by the Commissioner under subdivision (C) of this subdivision (5);

(ii) maintain minimum capital and surplus, or its equivalent, in an amount to be determined by the Commissioner by rule or regulation;

(iii) maintain financial strength ratings from two or more rating agencies deemed acceptable by the Commissioner by rule or regulation;

(iv) agree to submit to the jurisdiction of this State, appoint the Commissioner as its agent for service of process in this State, and agree to provide security for 100 percent of the assuming insurer's liabilities attributable to reinsurance ceded by U.S. ceding insurers if it resists enforcement of a final U.S. judgment;

(v) agree to meet applicable information filing requirements as determined by the Commissioner, both with respect to an initial application for certification and on an ongoing basis; and

(vi) ~~the assuming insurer must~~ satisfy any other requirements for certification deemed relevant by the Commissioner.

(B) An ~~Assœiation~~ association, including incorporated and individual unincorporated underwriters, may be a certified reinsurer. In order to be eligible for certification, in addition to satisfying the requirements of subdivision (A) of this subdivision (5):

(i) The ~~Assœiation~~ association shall satisfy its minimum capital and surplus requirements through the capital and surplus equivalents, net of liabilities, of the ~~Assœiation~~ association and its members, which shall include a joint central fund that may be applied to any unsatisfied obligation of the ~~Assœiation~~ association or any of its members, in an amount determined by the Commissioner to provide adequate protection.

(ii) The incorporated members of the ~~Assœiation~~ association shall not be engaged in any business other than underwriting as a member of the ~~Assœiation~~ association and shall be subject to the same level of regulation and solvency control by the ~~Assœiation's~~ association's domiciliary regulator as are the unincorporated members.

(iii) Within 90 days after its financial statements are due to be filed with the ~~Assœiation's~~ association's domiciliary regulator, the ~~Assœiation~~ association shall provide to the Commissioner an annual certification by the ~~Assœiation's~~ association's domiciliary regulator of the solvency of each underwriter member; or, if a certification is unavailable, financial statements, prepared by independent public accountants, of each underwriter member of the ~~Assœiation~~ association.

(C) The Commissioner shall create and publish a list of qualified jurisdictions under which an assuming insurer licensed and domiciled in such

jurisdiction is eligible to be considered for certification by the Commissioner as a certified reinsurer.

(i) In order to determine whether the domiciliary jurisdiction of a non-U.S. assuming insurer is eligible to be recognized as a qualified jurisdiction, the Commissioner shall evaluate the appropriateness and effectiveness of the reinsurance supervisory system of the jurisdiction, both initially and on an ongoing basis, and consider the rights, benefits, and extent of reciprocal recognition afforded by the non-U.S. jurisdiction to reinsurers licensed and domiciled in the United States. A qualified jurisdiction shall agree to share information and cooperate with the Commissioner with respect to all certified reinsurers domiciled within that jurisdiction. A jurisdiction may not be recognized as a qualified jurisdiction if the Commissioner has determined that the jurisdiction does not adequately and promptly enforce final U.S. judgments and arbitration awards. Additional factors may be considered in the discretion of the Commissioner.

(ii) A list of qualified jurisdictions shall be published through the NAIC committee process. The Commissioner shall consider this list in determining qualified jurisdictions. If the Commissioner approves a jurisdiction as qualified that does not appear on the list of qualified jurisdictions, the Commissioner shall provide thoroughly documented justification in accordance with criteria to be developed by rule or regulation.

(iii) U.S. jurisdictions that meet the requirement for accreditation under the NAIC financial standards and accreditation program shall be recognized as qualified jurisdictions.

(iv) If a certified reinsurer's domiciliary jurisdiction ceases to be a qualified jurisdiction, the Commissioner has the discretion to suspend the reinsurer's certification indefinitely, in lieu of revocation.

(D) The Commissioner shall assign a rating to each certified reinsurer, giving due consideration to the financial strength ratings that have been assigned by rating agencies deemed acceptable to the Commissioner by rule or regulation. The Commissioner shall publish a list of all certified reinsurers and their ratings.

(E) A certified reinsurer shall secure obligations assumed from U.S. ceding insurers under this subsection (b) at a level consistent with its rating, as specified in rules or regulations adopted by the Commissioner.

(i) In order for a domestic ceding insurer to qualify for full financial statement credit for reinsurance ceded to a certified reinsurer, the certified reinsurer shall maintain security in a form acceptable to the

Commissioner and consistent with the provisions of subsection (c) of this section or in a multibeneficiary trust in accordance with subdivision (4) of this subsection (b), except as otherwise provided in this subdivision.

(ii) If a certified reinsurer maintains a trust to fully secure its obligations subject to subdivision (4) of this subsection (b) and chooses to secure its obligations incurred as a certified reinsurer in the form of a multibeneficiary trust, the certified reinsurer shall maintain separate trust accounts for its obligations incurred under reinsurance agreements issued or renewed as a certified reinsurer with reduced security as permitted by this subsection (b) or comparable laws of other U.S. jurisdictions and for its obligations subject to subdivision (4) of this subsection. It shall be a condition to the grant of certification under this subdivision (5) of this subsection (b) that the certified reinsurer shall have bound itself, by the language of the trust and agreement with the Commissioner with principal regulatory oversight of each such trust account, to fund, upon termination of any such trust account, out of the remaining surplus of such trust any deficiency of any other such trust account.

(iii) The minimum trusted surplus requirements provided in subdivision (4) of this subsection (b) are not applicable with respect to a multibeneficiary trust maintained by a certified reinsurer for the purpose of securing obligations incurred under this ~~subsection~~ subdivision (5)(E), except that such trust shall maintain a minimum trusted surplus of \$10,000,000.00.

(iv) With respect to obligations incurred by a certified reinsurer under this ~~subsection~~ subdivision (5)(E), if the security is insufficient, the Commissioner shall reduce the allowable credit by an amount proportionate to the deficiency and has the discretion to impose further reductions in allowable credit upon finding that there is a material risk that the certified reinsurer's obligations will not be paid in full when due.

(v) For purposes of this subdivision (5), a certified reinsurer whose certification has been terminated for any reason shall be treated as a certified reinsurer required to secure 100 percent of its obligations.

(I) As used in this subdivision (5), the term "terminated" refers to revocation, suspension, voluntary surrender, and inactive status.

(II) If the Commissioner continues to assign a higher rating as permitted by other provisions of this section, this requirement does not apply to a certified reinsurer in inactive status or to a reinsurer whose certification has been suspended.

(F) If an applicant for certification has been certified as a reinsurer in an NAIC accredited jurisdiction, the Commissioner has the discretion to defer to that jurisdiction's certification and has the discretion to defer to the rating assigned by that jurisdiction, and such assuming insurer shall be considered to be a certified reinsurer in this State.

(G) A certified reinsurer that ceases to assume new business in this State may request to maintain its certification in inactive status in order to continue to qualify for a reduction in security for its in-force business. An inactive certified reinsurer shall continue to comply with all applicable requirements of this subsection (b), and the Commissioner shall assign a rating that takes into account, if relevant, the reasons why the reinsurer is not assuming new business.

(6)(A) Credit shall be allowed when the reinsurance is ceded to an assuming insurer meeting each of the conditions set forth below:

(i) The assuming insurer shall have its head office or be domiciled in, as applicable, and be licensed in a reciprocal jurisdiction. As used in this section, "reciprocal jurisdiction" means a jurisdiction that meets one of the following:

(I) a non-U.S. jurisdiction that is subject to an in-force covered agreement with the United States, each within its legal authority; or, in the case of a covered agreement between the United States and European Union, is a member state of the European Union. As used in this ~~subsection~~ subdivision (b)(6), a "covered agreement" means an agreement entered into pursuant to Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, 31 U.S.C. §§ 313 and 314, that is currently in effect or in a period of provisional application and addresses the elimination, under specified conditions, of collateral requirements as a condition for entering into any reinsurance agreement with a ceding insurer domiciled in this State or for allowing the ceding insurer to recognize credit for reinsurance;

(II) a U.S. jurisdiction that meets the requirements for accreditation under the NAIC financial standards and accreditation program; or

(III) a qualified jurisdiction, as determined by the Commissioner pursuant to subdivision (5)(C) of this subsection (b), that is not otherwise described in subdivision (6)(A)(i)(I) or (6)(A)(i)(II) of this subsection (b) and that meets certain additional requirements, consistent with the terms and conditions of in-force covered agreements, as specified by the Commissioner in rule or regulation.

(ii) The assuming insurer must have and maintain, on an ongoing basis, minimum capital and surplus, or its equivalent, calculated according to the methodology of its domiciliary jurisdiction, in an amount to be set forth in rule or regulation. If the assuming insurer is an association, including incorporated and individual unincorporated underwriters, it must have and maintain, on an ongoing basis, minimum capital and surplus equivalents, net of liabilities, calculated according to the methodology applicable in its domiciliary jurisdiction, and a central fund containing a balance in amounts to be set forth in rule or regulation.

(iii) The assuming insurer must have and maintain, on an ongoing basis, a minimum solvency or capital ratio, as applicable, ~~that~~ which will be set forth in rule or regulation. If the assuming insurer is an association, including incorporated and individual unincorporated underwriters, it must have and maintain, on an ongoing basis, a minimum solvency or capital ratio in the reciprocal jurisdiction where the assuming insurer has its head office or is domiciled, as applicable, and is also licensed.

(iv) The assuming insurer must agree and provide adequate assurance to the Commissioner, in a form specified in rule or regulation by the Commissioner, of the following:

(I) The assuming insurer must provide prompt written notice and explanation to the Commissioner if it falls below the minimum requirements set forth in subdivision (6)(A)(ii) or (6)(A)(iii) of this subsection; (b) or if any regulatory action is taken against it for serious noncompliance with applicable law.

(II) The assuming insurer must consent in writing to the jurisdiction of the courts of this State and to the appointment of the Commissioner as agent for service of process. The Commissioner may require that consent for service of process be provided to the Commissioner and included in each reinsurance agreement. Nothing in this ~~subsection~~ subdivision (6)(A)(iv)(II) shall limit, or in any way alter, the capacity of parties to a reinsurance agreement to agree to alternative dispute resolution mechanisms, except to the extent such agreements are unenforceable under applicable insolvency or delinquency laws.

(III) The assuming insurer must consent in writing to pay all final judgments, wherever enforcement is sought, obtained by a ceding insurer or its legal successor, that have been declared enforceable in the jurisdiction where the judgment was obtained.

(IV) Each reinsurance agreement must include a provision requiring the assuming insurer to provide security in an amount equal to

100 percent of the assuming insurer's liabilities attributable to reinsurance ceded pursuant to that agreement if the assuming insurer resists enforcement of a final judgment that is enforceable under the law of the jurisdiction in which it was obtained or a properly enforceable arbitration award, whether obtained by the ceding insurer or by its legal successor on behalf of its resolution estate.

(V) The assuming insurer must confirm that it is not presently participating in any solvent scheme of arrangement that involves this State's ceding insurers, and agree to notify the ceding insurer and the Commissioner and to provide security in an amount equal to 100 percent of the assuming insurer's liabilities to the ceding insurer, should the assuming insurer enter into such a solvent scheme of arrangement. Such security shall be in a form consistent with the provisions of subdivision (b)(5) and subsection (c) of this section and as specified by the Commissioner in rule or regulation.

(v) The assuming insurer or its legal successor must provide, if requested by the Commissioner, on behalf of itself and any legal predecessors, certain documentation to the Commissioner, as specified by the Commissioner in rule or regulation.

(vi) The assuming insurer must maintain a practice of prompt payment of claims under reinsurance agreements, pursuant to criteria set forth in rule or regulation.

(vii) The assuming insurer's supervisory authority must confirm to the Commissioner on an annual basis, as of the preceding December 31 or at the annual date otherwise statutorily reported to the reciprocal jurisdiction, that the assuming insurer complies with the requirements set forth in subdivisions (6)(A)(ii) and (6)(A)(iii) of this subsection (b).

(viii) Nothing in this subdivision (b)(6)(A) precludes an assuming insurer from providing the Commissioner with information on a voluntary basis.

(B) The Commissioner shall timely create and publish a list of reciprocal jurisdictions.

(i) A list of reciprocal jurisdictions is published through the NAIC committee process. The Commissioner's list shall include any reciprocal jurisdiction as defined under subdivisions (6)(A)(i)(I) and (6)(A)(i)(II) of this subsection (b) and shall consider any other reciprocal jurisdiction included on the NAIC list. The Commissioner may approve a jurisdiction that does not appear on the NAIC list of reciprocal jurisdictions in accordance with criteria to be developed in rules or regulations adopted by the Commissioner.

(ii) The Commissioner may remove a jurisdiction from the list of reciprocal jurisdictions upon a determination that the jurisdiction no longer meets the requirements of a reciprocal jurisdiction, in accordance with a process set forth in rules or regulations adopted by the Commissioner, except that the Commissioner shall not remove from the list a reciprocal jurisdiction as defined under subdivisions (6)(A)(i)(I) and (6)(A)(i)(II) of this subsection (b). Upon removal of a reciprocal jurisdiction from this list, credit for reinsurance ceded to an assuming insurer that has its home office or is domiciled in that jurisdiction shall be allowed, if otherwise allowed pursuant to this section.

(C) The Commissioner shall timely create and publish a list of assuming insurers that have satisfied the conditions set forth in this ~~subsection~~ subdivision (b)(6) and to which cessions shall be granted credit in accordance with this ~~subsection~~ subdivision. The Commissioner may add an assuming insurer to such list if an NAIC accredited jurisdiction has added such assuming insurer to a list of such assuming insurers or if, upon initial eligibility, the assuming insurer submits the information to the Commissioner as required under subdivision (6)(A)(iv) of this subsection (b) and complies with any additional requirements that the Commissioner may impose by rule or regulation, except to the extent that they conflict with an applicable covered agreement.

(D) If the Commissioner determines that an assuming insurer no longer meets one or more of the requirements under this ~~subsection~~ subdivision (b)(6), the Commissioner may revoke or suspend the eligibility of the assuming insurer for recognition under this ~~subsection~~ subdivision in accordance with procedures set forth in rule or regulation.

(i) While an assuming insurer's eligibility is suspended, no reinsurance agreement issued, amended, or renewed after the effective date of the suspension qualifies for credit except to the extent that the assuming insurer's obligations under the contract are secured in accordance with subsection (c) of this section.

(ii) If an assuming insurer's eligibility is revoked, no credit for reinsurance may be granted after the effective date of the revocation with respect to any reinsurance agreements entered into by the assuming insurer, including reinsurance agreements entered into prior to the date of revocation, except to the extent that the assuming insurer's obligations under the contract are secured in a form acceptable to the Commissioner and consistent with the provisions of subsection (c) of this section.

(E) If subject to a legal process of rehabilitation, liquidation, or conservation, as applicable, the ceding insurer, or its representative, may seek and, if determined appropriate by the court in which the proceedings are pending, may obtain an order requiring that the assuming insurer post security for all outstanding ceded liabilities.

(F) Nothing in this ~~subsection~~ subdivision (b)(6) shall limit or in any way alter the capacity of parties to a reinsurance agreement to agree on requirements for security or other terms in that reinsurance agreement, except as expressly prohibited by this section or other applicable law ~~or, rule, or regulation.~~

(G)(i) Credit may be taken under this subsection (b) only for reinsurance agreements entered into, amended, or renewed on or after January 1, 2021, and only with respect to losses incurred and reserves reported on or after the later of:

(I) the date on which the assuming insurer has met all eligibility requirements pursuant to ~~subdivision (6)(A) of this subsection~~ subdivision (b)(6)(A) of this section; and

(II) the effective date of the new reinsurance agreement, amendment, or renewal.

(ii) This subdivision (b)(6)(G) does not alter or impair a ceding insurer's right to take credit for reinsurance, to the extent that credit is not available under this ~~subsection~~ subdivision (b)(6), as long as provided the reinsurance qualifies for credit under any other applicable provision of this section.

(iii) Nothing in this ~~subsection~~ subdivision (b)(6) shall authorize an assuming insurer to withdraw or reduce the security provided under any reinsurance agreement except as permitted by the terms of the agreement.

(iv) Nothing in this ~~subsection~~ subdivision (b)(6) shall limit, or in any way alter, the capacity of parties to any reinsurance agreement to renegotiate the agreement.

(7) Credit shall be allowed when the reinsurance is ceded to an assuming insurer not meeting the requirements of subdivision (1), (2), (3), (4), (5), or (6) of this subsection (b), but only as to the insurance of risks located in jurisdictions where the reinsurance is required by applicable law or regulation of that jurisdiction.

(8) If the assuming insurer is not licensed or accredited or certified to transact insurance or reinsurance in this State, the credit permitted by

subdivisions (3) and (4) of this subsection (b) shall not be allowed unless the assuming insurer agrees in the reinsurance agreements:

(A)(i) That in the event of the failure of the assuming insurer to perform its obligations under the terms of the reinsurance agreement, the assuming insurer, at the request of the ceding insurer, shall submit to the jurisdiction of any court of competent jurisdiction in any state of the United States, will comply with all requirements necessary to give such court jurisdiction, and will abide by the final decision of such court or of any appellate court in the event of an appeal.

~~(B)(ii)~~ To designate the Commissioner, ~~the Secretary of State~~, or a designated attorney as its true and lawful attorney upon whom may be served any lawful process in any action, suit, or proceeding instituted by or on behalf of the ceding company.

~~(B)~~ This ~~provision~~ subdivision (b)(8) is not intended to conflict with or override the obligation of the parties to a reinsurance agreement to arbitrate their disputes, if this obligation is created in the agreement.

(9) If the assuming insurer does not meet the requirements of subdivision (1), (2), (3), or (6) of this subsection (b), the credit permitted by subdivision (4) or (5) of this subsection (b) shall not be allowed unless the assuming insurer agrees in the trust agreements to the following conditions:

(A) Notwithstanding any other provisions in the trust instrument to the contrary, if the trust fund is inadequate because it contains an amount less than the amount required by subdivisions (4)(B)–(D) of this subsection (b) or if the grantor of the trust has been declared insolvent or placed into receivership, rehabilitation, liquidation, or similar proceedings under the laws of its state or country of domicile, the trustee shall comply with an order of the ~~Commissioner~~ commissioner with regulatory oversight over the trust or with an order of a court of competent jurisdiction directing the trustee to transfer to the ~~Commissioner~~ commissioner with regulatory oversight all of the assets of the trust fund.

(B) The assets shall be distributed by and claims shall be filed with and valued by the ~~Commissioner~~ commissioner with regulatory oversight in accordance with the laws of the state in which the trust is domiciled that are applicable to the liquidation of domestic insurance companies.

(C) If the ~~Commissioner~~ commissioner with regulatory oversight determines that the assets of the trust fund or any part thereof are not necessary to satisfy the claims of the U.S. ceding insurers of the grantor of the trust, the assets or part thereof shall be returned by the ~~Commissioner~~ commissioner

with regulatory oversight to the trustee for distribution in accordance with the trust agreement.

(D) The grantor shall waive any right otherwise available to it under U.S. law that is inconsistent with this ~~provision~~ subdivision (b)(9).

(10) If an accredited or certified reinsurer ceases to meet the requirements for accreditation or certification, the Commissioner may suspend or revoke the reinsurer's accreditation or certification.

(A) The Commissioner must give the reinsurer notice and opportunity for hearing. The Commissioner may suspend or revoke a reinsurer's accreditation or certification without a hearing if:

(i) the reinsurer waives its right to hearing;

(ii) the Commissioner's order is based on regulatory action by the reinsurer's domiciliary jurisdiction or the voluntary surrender or termination of the reinsurer's eligibility to transact insurance or reinsurance business in its domiciliary jurisdiction or in the primary certifying state of the reinsurer under subdivision (5)(F) of this subsection (b); or

(iii) the Commissioner finds that an emergency requires immediate action and a court of competent jurisdiction has not stayed the Commissioner's action.

(B) While a reinsurer's accreditation or certification is suspended, no reinsurance contract issued or renewed after the effective date of the suspension qualifies for credit except to the extent that the reinsurer's obligations under the contract are secured in accordance with subsection (c) of this section. If a reinsurer's accreditation or certification is revoked, no credit for reinsurance may be granted after the effective date of the revocation except to the extent that the reinsurer's obligations under the contract are secured in accordance with subdivision (5)(E) of this subsection (b) or subsection (c) of this section.

(11) Concentration risk.

(A) A ceding insurer shall take steps to manage its reinsurance recoverables proportionate to its own book of business. A domestic ceding insurer shall notify the Commissioner within 30 days after reinsurance recoverables from any single assuming insurer or group of affiliated assuming insurers exceeds 50 percent of the domestic ceding insurer's last reported surplus to policyholders or after it is determined that reinsurance recoverables from any single assuming insurer or group of affiliated assuming insurers is likely to exceed this limit. The notification shall demonstrate that the exposure is safely managed by the domestic ceding insurer.

(B) A ceding insurer shall take steps to diversify its reinsurance program. A domestic ceding insurer shall notify the Commissioner within 30 days after ceding to any single assuming insurer or group of affiliated assuming insurers more than 20 percent of the ceding insurer's gross written premium in the prior calendar year or after it has determined that the reinsurance ceded to any single assuming insurer or group of affiliated assuming insurers is likely to exceed this limit. The notification shall demonstrate that the exposure is safely managed by the domestic ceding insurer.

(c) Asset or reduction from liability for reinsurance ceded by a domestic insurer to an assuming insurer not meeting the requirements of subsection (b) of this section. An asset or a reduction from liability for the reinsurance ceded by a domestic insurer to an assuming insurer not meeting the requirements of subsection (b) of this section shall be allowed in an amount not exceeding the liabilities carried by the ceding insurer, provided that the Commissioner may adopt by rule or regulation pursuant to subdivision (e)(2) of this section specific additional requirements relating to or setting forth any or all of the following: the valuation of assets or reserve credits, the amount and forms of security supporting reinsurance arrangements described in subdivision (e)(2) of this section, and the circumstances pursuant to which credit will be reduced or eliminated. The reduction shall be in the amount of funds held by or on behalf of the ceding insurer, including funds held in trust for the ceding insurer, under a reinsurance contract with such assuming insurer as collateral for the payment of obligations thereunder, if such collateral is held in the United States subject to withdrawal solely by, and under the exclusive control of, the ceding insurer; or, in the case of a trust, held in a qualified U.S. financial institution, as defined in subdivision (d)(2) of this section. This security may be in the form of:

(1) ~~Cash~~ cash;

(2) ~~Securities~~ securities listed by the Securities Valuation Office of the National Association of Insurance Commissioners, including those deemed exempt from filing as defined by the Purposes and Procedures Manual of the Securities Valuation Office, and qualifying as admitted assets;

(3) ~~Clean~~ clean, irrevocable, unconditional letters of credit, issued or confirmed by a qualified U.S. financial institution as defined in subdivision (d)(1) of this section, which are effective ~~no~~ not later than December 31 ~~in~~ respect of the year for which filing is being made, and in the possession of, or in trust for, the ceding company on or before the filing date of its annual statement.

~~(4)~~ ~~Letters~~ letters of credit meeting applicable standards of issuer acceptability as of the dates of their issuance or confirmation shall, notwithstanding the issuing or confirming institution's subsequent failure to meet applicable standards of issuer acceptability, continue to be acceptable as security until their expiration, extension, renewal, modification, or amendment, whichever first occurs; ~~or~~

~~(4)(5)~~ Any any other form of collateral acceptable to the Commissioner.

(d) Qualified U.S. financial institutions.

(1) ~~For purposes of~~ As used in subdivision (c)(3) of this section, a "qualified U.S. financial institution" means an institution that:

(A) is organized or, in the case of a U.S. office of a foreign banking organization, licensed under the laws of the United States or any state thereof;

(B) is regulated, supervised, and examined by federal or state authorities having regulatory authority over banks and trust companies; and

(C) has been determined by either the Commissioner or the Securities Valuation Office of the National Association of Insurance Commissioners to meet such standards of financial condition and standing as are considered necessary and appropriate to regulate the quality of financial institutions whose letters of credit will be acceptable to the Commissioner.

(2) A "qualified U.S. financial institution" means, for purposes of those provisions of this section specifying those institutions that are eligible to act as a fiduciary of a trust, an institution that is:

(A) organized or, in the case of a U.S. branch or agency office of a foreign banking organization, licensed under the laws of the United States or any state thereof and has been granted authority to operate with fiduciary powers; and

(B) regulated, supervised, and examined by federal or state authorities having regulatory authority over banks and trust companies.

~~(e) Notwithstanding the provisions of this subsection to the contrary, the Commissioner shall allow credit for reinsurance ceded and assumed to a pooling arrangement that has the following characteristics:~~

~~(1) the majority of the pooling members are licensed to transact business in this State, or are licensed in a state that is accredited with the National Association of Insurance Commissioners, or are approved by the Commissioner;~~

~~(2) the members of the pool are subject to joint and several liability;~~

~~(3) all members of the pool agree to file with the Commissioner, annually on or before March 1, a copy of the member's annual statement filed with the insurance department of its state of domicile; and~~

~~(4) the manager of the pool files with the Commissioner, annually on or before December 1, a request to be exempted from the provisions of subdivisions (b)(1) through (4) of this section.~~

~~(f) Rules and regulations.~~

~~(1) The Commissioner may adopt rules or regulations implementing the provisions of this section.~~

~~(2)(A) The Commissioner may adopt rules or regulations applicable to reinsurance agreements. Such rules or regulations may apply only to reinsurance relating to:~~

~~(i) life insurance policies with guaranteed nonlevel gross premiums or guaranteed nonlevel benefits;~~

~~(ii) universal life insurance policies with provisions resulting in the ability of a policyholder to keep a policy in force over a secondary guarantee period;~~

~~(iii) variable annuities with guaranteed death or living benefits;~~

~~(iv) long-term care insurance policies; or~~

~~(v) such other life and health insurance and annuity products as to which the NAIC adopts model regulatory requirements with respect to credit for reinsurance.~~

~~(B) A rule or regulation adopted pursuant to subdivision (2)(A)(i) or (ii) of this subsection (e) may apply to any treaty that contains:~~

~~(i) policies issued on or after January 1, 2015; or~~

~~(ii) policies issued prior to January 1, 2015, if risk pertaining to such pre-2015 policies is ceded in connection with the treaty, in whole or in part, on or after January 1, 2015; or both.~~

~~(3) A rule or regulation adopted pursuant to subdivision (2) of this subsection (e) may require the ceding insurer, in calculating the amounts or forms of security required to be held under regulations promulgated under this authority, to use the Valuation Manual adopted by the NAIC under Section 11B(1) of the NAIC Standard Valuation Law, including all amendments adopted by the NAIC and in effect on the date as of which the calculation is made, to the extent applicable.~~

(4) A rule or regulation adopted pursuant to subdivision (2) of this subsection (e) shall not apply to cessions to an assuming insurer that:

(A) meets the conditions set forth in subdivision (b)(6) of this section;

(B) is certified in this State; or

(C) maintains at least \$250,000,000.00 in capital and surplus when determined in accordance with the NAIC Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual, including all amendments thereto adopted by the NAIC, excluding the impact of any permitted or prescribed practices; and is:

(i) licensed in at least 26 states; or

(ii) licensed in at least 10 states and licensed or accredited in a total of at least 35 states.

(5) The authority to adopt rules or regulations pursuant to subdivision (2) of this subsection (e) does not limit the Commissioner's general authority to adopt rules or regulations pursuant to subdivision (1) of this subsection (e).

(g)(f) Reinsurance agreements affected. This section shall apply to all cessions after the effective date of this section under reinsurance agreements that have an inception, anniversary, or renewal date not less than six months after the effective date of this section.

* * * Effective Dates * * *

Sec. 24. EFFECTIVE DATES

This act shall take effect on passage except that Secs. 10 and 11 (travel insurance) shall take effect 90 days after enactment.

(Committee Vote: 9-0-1)

Rep. Elder of Starksboro, for the Committee on Ways and Means, recommends the bill ought to pass when amended as recommended by the Committee on Commerce and Economic Development.

(Committee Vote:11-0-0)

Action Postponed Until April 20, 2022

Governor's Veto

H. 157

An act relating to registration of construction contractors.

For Text of Veto Message See House Journal February 10, 2022

Consent Calendar

Concurrent Resolutions

The following concurrent resolutions have been introduced for approval by the Senate and House and will be adopted automatically unless a Senator or Representative requests floor consideration before the end of the session of the next legislative day. Requests for floor consideration in either chamber should be communicated to the Senate Secretary's office or the House Clerk's office. For text of resolutions, see Addendum to House Calendar and Senate Calendar.

H.C.R. 104

House concurrent resolution commemorating the centennial anniversary of the Harris Hill Ski Jump in Brattleboro

H.C.R. 105

House concurrent resolution in memory of former Representative Deborah G. Evans of Essex

S.C.R. 15

Senate concurrent resolution recognizing February 2022 as Black History Month in Vermont

S.C.R. 16

Senate concurrent resolution commemorating the centennial of Robert Frost's poem "Stopping by Woods on a Snowy Evening"

For Informational Purposes

Crossover Deadline

(1) All **Senate/House** bills must be reported out of the last committee of reference (including the Committees on Appropriations and on Finance/Ways and Means, except as provided below in (2) and the exceptions listed below) on or before **Friday, March 11, 2022**, and filed with the Secretary/Clerk so they may be placed on the Calendar for Notice the next legislative day – Committee bills must be voted out of Committee by **Friday, March 11, 2022**.

(2) All **Senate/House** bills referred pursuant to Senate Rule 31 or House Rule 35(a) to the Committees on Appropriations and on Finance/Ways and Means must be reported out by the last of those committees on or before **Friday, March 18, 2022**, and filed with the Secretary/Clerk so they may be placed on the Calendar for Notice the next legislative day.

Exceptions to the foregoing deadlines include the major money bills

(the general Appropriations bill (“The Big Bill”), the Transportation capital bill, the Capital Construction bill, and the Fee/Revenue bills).

Joint Assembly

February 17, 2022 - 10:30 a.m. – Election of two (2) trustees for the Vermont State Colleges Corporation.

Candidates for the positions of trustee must notify the Secretary of State **in writing** not later than February 10, 2022 , by 4:30 P.M. pursuant to the provisions of 2 V.S.A. §12(b). Otherwise their names will not appear on the ballots for these positions.

The following rules shall apply to the conduct of these elections:

First: All nominations for these offices will be presented in alphabetical order prior to voting.

Second: There will be only one nominating speech of not more than three (3) minutes and not more than two seconding speeches of not more than one (1) minute each for each nominee.